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Sensyne Health is a Clinical AI company, working in
partnership with the NHS to improve patient outcomes
and to accelerate the discovery and development of
new medicines.
We are a for-profit plc making a positive social impact
through the ethical analysis of anonymised patient data
and providing a return back to the NHS via equity and a
share in revenues.

We create value for:

PATIENTS

UK ECONOMY

THE NHS

SHAREHOLDERS

Our technologies save
lives and improve care,
uncovering new
treatments in areas of
unmet medical need

Enabling NHS data to
work for the British
people and supporting
the UK Industrial Strategy
in Life Sciences

Our unique partnerships
with NHS Trusts deliver
financial returns for them
to reinvest in local
patient care

In unlocking these
benefits for patients, the
UK economy and the
NHS, we provide a
financial return to
our shareholders

Business model
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Visit our corporate website:
www.sensynehealth.com/investors

Unique patient records
(‘000)
As at 30 April 2019

2,105

Number of unique patients
represented in the data held
by NHS partner Trusts

Operational highlights

Patient encounters
(‘000)
As at 30 April 2019

Revenue
(£’000)

136

20,057

Number of patient admissions
represented in the data held
by NHS partner Trusts

(2018: 81)
19
18

Total R&D expenditure
(£’000)

Adjusted operating loss
(£’000)

Operating loss
(£’000)

(2018: 2,742)

(2018: 6,222)

(2018: 7,253)

9,512

11,513

19,010

• First major pharmaceutical collaboration agreement
for £5m signed with Bayer to accelerate the
development of new treatments for cardiovascular
disease using Clinical Artificial Intelligence
• Signed agreements with a Fortune 200 company
and a data infrastructure specialist to launch
and scale our digital health products in the U.S.
• New partnership created with Evotec, Oxford
University Innovation, Oxford Sciences Innovation
and the University of Oxford called LAB10x to
accelerate the commercialisation of the next
generation of digital therapeutics and datadriven drug discovery from clinical artificial
intelligence research and digital health innovations
• Signing of an agreement with Jefferson Health
for the clinical and economic evaluation of
Sensyne Health’s GDm-Health™ digital
therapeutic product and generation of curated
patient data within a US hospital system

19

19

19

18

18

18

Adjusted cash used in
operations (£’000)

Cash at year end
(£’000)

Adjusted loss per share
(£)

(2018: 5,372)

(2018: 4,541)

(2018: 0.06)

• 20,057,000 patient admissions represented
in the data held by NHS partner trusts
• Entered into a formal research agreement with
the UK MHRA (Medicines and Healthcare
products Regulatory Agency) to contribute
to the development of methods to validate
software algorithms used in digital health

9,779

49,252

0.10

19

19

19

18

18

18

1 Key performance indicators are detailed and defined on page 25.
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Key performance indicators1

• Strategic Research Agreement (SRA)s with two
further NHS Trusts: George Eliot NHS Trust and
Wye Valley NHS Trust
• The number of unique patients represented in
the data held by NHS partner trusts stands at
2,105,000

Operational review
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At a glance

Accelerating discovery
Sensyne Health is the docking station between the NHS and
the pharmaceutical industry that creates value from the analysis of
anonymised patient data and provides a financial return to the NHS

What we do
• Patients and clinicians use our medical software, which is
clinically proven to improve outcomes
• Our software curates data on the care of patients in the real
world which is then anonymised
• We combine this anonymised patient data with other
phenotypic and genetic data to create data sets of value
for discovery research
• We use Clinical AI methods to analyse the data and answer clinically
relevant questions and generate new discovery hypotheses
• This enables improvements in pharmaceutical development
and clinical trials and the discovery of new treatments faster
and at lower cost to address unmet medical needs

Business model
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Genesis of Sensyne Health

Research collaboration
between OU and
OUH in digital health
commenced

Medical engineering
research at Oxford
since 1970s

1990

SEND deployed
across OUH

Sensyne Health plc
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Strategic Research
Agreement signed
with OU/OUH

First NHS
apps library
approval

2017

2000
PowderJect spun out
from medical engineering
department at University
of Oxford

2

Creation of
the Institute
for Biomedical
Engineering

PowderJect sold for
$890 million

Digitisation of OUH
NHS Foundation
Trust records

First AI Discovery
insight
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Strategic Research Agreements
Our products

Clinical AI

Our digital health products generate and
curate data while improving patient outcomes.

SENDTM

System for vital sign
observations

GDm-HealthTM

System for monitoring
gestational diabetes

Collaborations in Oxford

Support-HFTM

System for the management
of heart failure

EDGETM

System for the management
of COPD

CleanSpaceTM

Air quality research application

First
pharmaceutical
agreement

We have developed four clinically validated products (SEND, GDm-Health, EDGE
and Support-HF) in collaboration with the University of Oxford (OU) and Oxford University
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (OUH) and one product (CleanSpace) for air pollution
monitoring that has been validated by the National Physical Laboratory.

Strategic Research Agreement
signed with Chelsea and
Westminster Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust

Sensyne Health plc
admission to trading
on AIM

2018

Signing of a research
agreement with the
Big Data Institute at the
University of Oxford

First US agreement
signed with
Jefferson Health

First major
pharmaceutical
collaboration
agreement signed

2019
ISO 13485
and 27001
accreditation
received

Strategic Research
Agreement
signed with South
Warwickshire NHS
Foundation Trust

Second Strategic
Research Agreement
with OUH to
analyse anonymised
genetic data

UK commercial
launch of digital
therapeutic
GDm-Health

Strategic Research
Agreement signed
with George Elliot

Strategic Research
Agreement signed
with Wye Valley

LAB10x
partnership
formed

Sensyne Health plc
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The Sensyne Health business model

A double bottom line

The Sensyne Health model
Sensyne Health is an example of how a commercial healthcare
technology company can partner with the NHS to improve patient
care and generate value from its anonymised patient data in an
ethical way, providing an attractive return to its shareholders while
making a positive social impact and maintaining public trust.
The Company acts as a “docking station” between the NHS and
pharmaceutical companies. It is the insights from our analyses of
anonymised patient data using our proprietary Clinical AI technology

4
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that we commercialise, not the data itself. Sensyne Health currently
has access to ethically sourced anonymised patient data through our
unique “double bottom line” business model. We have Strategic
Research Agreements in place with five NHS Trusts covering a
population of three million people; each has an equity stake in the
Company, has a total of £1.5 million in annual funding available
for research, and receives a share of revenues that arise from the
commercialisation of analytical insights to reinvest back into local
patient care providing them with an additional funding stream.

STRATEGIC REPORT

Benefits

Benefits to patients

765

310

455

C-sections prevented1

Pre-term births
prevented1

Mothers not transitioning to
pharmacological treatment1

Over the last four years, the number of cardiac
arrests has fallen by 63% on wards where SEND
is used to monitor patients at the Oxford University
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.

1 M
 ackillop, L., Hirst, J.E., Bartlett, K.J., Birks, J.S., Clifton, L.,
Farmer, A.J., Gibson, O., Kenworthy, Y., Levy, J.C., Loerup, L.
and Rivero-Arias, O. Comparing the Efficacy of a Mobile
Phone-Based Blood Glucose Management System with Standard
Clinic Care in Women with Gestational Diabetes: Randomized
Controlled Trial. JMIR mHealth and uHealth, 6(3), p.e71. 2018.

The cardiac arrest rate has already fallen by 36%
since the introduction of SEND in 2017 at the
South Warwickshire NHS Foundation Trust.
By developing and deploying our products,
such as SEND and GDm-Health, into the NHS,
we are able to deliver immediate benefits to patients.
For patients with gestational diabetes this includes
reducing: occurrence of caesarean sections from 46%
to 27%; incidence of pre-term births by 64%; and the
number of mothers transitioning to pharmacological
treatment by 16%.1

Sensyne Health plc
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Benefits continued

Benefits to the NHS

6,038

126,744

486

72

Clinic visits saved1

Clinician hours saved2

Administrative
hours saved1

Full-time nurse
equivalent provided2

Our products have also delivered direct benefits
to the NHS, reducing: the time spent by midwives
and clinicians on administrative tasks associated with
gestational diabetes by 50%; the number of visits to
antenatal clinics by 26%1; and the time taken to record a
set of vital sign observations by 30%2. This is freeing up
time that clinicians can spend caring for their patients.

1 h
 ttps://www.oxfordahsn.org/our-work/adopting-innovation/
active-clinical-innovation-adoption-projects/gestational-diabetesupdate-march-2017/case-study-better-monitoring-and-fewerhospital-visits-for-women-who-develop-diabetes-during-pregnancy/
2 W
 ong, D., Bonnici, T., Knight, J., Gerry, S., Turton, J. and
Watkinson, P., 2017. A ward-based time study of paper and
electronic documentation for recording vital sign observations.
Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association, 24(4),
pp.717-721.2

We have already provided the NHS with £17.5m in equity, and are proud
that the NHS owns 10% of Sensyne Health

6
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Benefits to the UK economy
To 30 April
2019
£’000

Payroll taxes

2,746

Reduction in caesarean sections1

2,776

Reduction in pre-term births2

1,860

Reduction in pharmacological treatment3

44

Reduction in clinic visits4

60

Administrative time saved5

19

Clinical time saving

6

Equity provided to our NHS partner Trusts
Funding provided to academic researchers
Total contribution to the UK economy
Total research funding available as at 30 April 2019

The benefits to patients and the NHS, along with
investment in research and development in the UK,
creating high value STEM jobs and paying income tax
and National Insurance, has created a total worth to the
UK economy of £30,198,000.

4,943
17,500
250

30,198
8,250

1 Based on difference in national NHS reference costs for a caesarean and normal delivery.
2 Estimated additional cost to NHS for a premature birth.
3 Estimated cost of providing prescription drugs to mothers with gestational diabetes mellitus.
4 Estimated cost saving from reduction in clinic visits.
5 Midwife time cost saving on administrative time based on locum staff cost.
6 Based on average locum nurse cost.

£30,198,000

Total contribution to the UK economy

How this benefits shareholders
NHS data is a Sovereign Asset that EY has reported with the right investment and organisation could provide cumulative benefits
to the NHS worth £9.6 billion per annum1, and worth £94bn over 12 years. The investment of our shareholders enables the Sensyne Health
business model to generate and unlock the value of this Sovereign Asset for the benefit of patients, clinicians and the NHS. Through
commercial arrangements with pharmaceutical and life science companies like Bayer, we can deliver a financial return for our shareholders.

Delivering benefits to patients, the NHS, the UK economy and our shareholders.
1 E
 rnst & Young LLP, UK., “Realising the value of health care data” 2019:
https://www.ey.com/en_gl/life-sciences/how-we-can-place-a-value-on-health-care-data ; at a discount rate of 3.5%.
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Benefits continued

Benefits to the Oxford ecosystem

Signed two Strategic Research Agreements providing:

£2.5m
in Sensyne Health equity

£0.6m

Three-year research agreement focused in
the field of chronic disease

in research funding

Sensyne Health plc
Annual Report 2019

£7.5m

in Sensyne Health equity

£5m in funding with Evotec and Oxford
Sciences Innovation, partnering with
Oxford University Innovation

Relocated our Head Office to the Oxford Science Park (owned
by Magdalen College Oxford) with lease commitments of more
than £5.2m, employing more than 80 people

8

Signed a Strategic Research Agreement providing:

£5.6m
in research funding

Licensed GDm-Health, SEND, EDGE and
Support-HF and multiple Clinical AI algorithms
with over £400,000 provided to date

£384,000 in funding for the build of the Big Data Institute/Oxford
University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Clinical Data Warehouse
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Chairman’s statement

Building a world-class business
Each NHS Trust which provides data to
Sensyne Health is a shareholder, and also
benefits by way of a royalty on revenue
generated by use of that data.

Charles Swingland
Non-Executive Chairman

It is a great privilege to be delivering Sensyne
Health’s first Chairman’s Statement following the
Company’s initial public offering in August 2018.

Our strategy

Sensyne Health links the pharmaceutical
sector with the clinicians who care for the
patients and collect information about the
progression of medical conditions. This
enables pharmaceutical companies to
use insights derived from clinical artificial
intelligence to develop better-targeted drugs
with a higher chance of successful patient
outcomes. We describe Sensyne Health’s
role as a “docking station” between the
providers of data and those who need it to
guide medical innovation, and we are proud
to provide this connection ethically and
efficiently while protecting public trust in
how their data is used.
Artificial intelligence is a technology which
worries some people. It suggests decision
making by machines, loss of human control
and the potential use of data for unauthorised
purposes. There is no data more sensitive
than personal medical data, and the public is
rightly concerned about global technology
companies having access to such information.
It is to address this concern that Lord Drayson,
Sensyne Health’s CEO, conceived our business
model, which I believe is unique and brilliant.
No other company in the world, to my knowledge,
provides the same guarantee of anonymity of
patients’ data while being able to make the
most of the medical and social opportunities
presented by such a data set.

It is pleasing that so many enlightened UK
investment institutions have recognised the
importance of Sensyne Health’s mission and
given the Company such unequivocal support,
even against a backdrop of the UK’s turbulent
politics and uncertain economic future. They
have seen the size of the opportunity and the
unique benefits of the NHS data set, and the
opportunity has also been recognised by
influential partners, such as Bayer, Jefferson
Health in the US, Microsoft, EY, JPMorgan
and Peel Hunt, who provide strategic support.
The Company is grateful to all of them.
Recognition and thanks should also be given
to the Sensyne Health executive team, who have
achieved so much in a relatively short period.

Board and governance

We have an exceptionally talented and
well-balanced Board encompassing members
experienced in the fields of politics, medicine,
finance, technology, engineering, law and
accountancy. Recognition of their efforts
should not be overlooked.
On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank
Sir John Bell for his significant contribution to
the Company as Chairman until October 2018
when he stepped down from the Board.
Success in our chosen field will depend upon
scale and, in preparation for growth and
reflecting our determined adherence to the
highest ethical standards, we have chosen to
adopt, where possible, standards of corporate
governance in excess of the requirements of
our AIM listing.

In the year since our IPO, we have done
exceptionally well. At IPO we had 41 employees,
and today we have over 80. This is both a
reflection of the excitement generated by
our business model and the hard work of
the team in finding the right people. However,
the demand for technical employees with
appropriate skills is growing faster than
supply, and salary inflation in our sector will
accelerate. Recruitment will remain a corporate
priority for the foreseeable future.

Outlook

From the outset, Sensyne Health has attracted
much attention in the medical world – and all
of it has been positive. Lord Drayson and his
team have succeeded in communicating the
Company’s vision to the investment community,
the media, the Government, the pharmaceutical
industry and healthcare providers. Sensyne
Health sits as an innovator at the interface of
computer and medical science and at the
interface of business and society.
Since the IPO, the Company has delivered on
the promises it made at that time. The past
year has been instructive about the importance
of what we are doing and the things we
need to do to continue our success. Political
uncertainties and recent events in the investor
community have posed challenges this year,
however, the Sensyne Health team are
determined to ensure that the quality of the
commercial opportunity the Company is
pursuing will be reflected in the creation
of value for shareholders.
The Company has big ambition and truly
exciting prospects.

Charles Swingland

Non-Executive Chairman

Our people

The best companies strive to recruit the best
people, and their ability to do so measures
future commercial success. Artificial Intelligence
is a relatively new area and is experiencing
huge growth. People with the necessary
skills are in unprecedented demand and
Sensyne Health has to compete in a global
marketplace for these skills.

Sensyne Health plc
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Chief Executive Officer’s statement

Delivering on our strategy
Sensyne Health’s mission is to meet the
challenge of rising healthcare costs and
declining productivity in the discovery of
new medicines, by bringing the power of
clinical artificial intelligence to the analysis of
ethically sourced, anonymised patient data.
Our unique approach is based upon four
strategic elements:

Rt. Hon. Lord Drayson
PhD FIET FREng FMedSci
Chief Executive Officer

2019 was the year
Sensyne Health
introduced its unique
approach to business
with social impact.
2020 will be the year
we prove it works.

• a double bottom line business model
that creates value for patients and
shareholders and shares that value
with the NHS via equity in the Company
and a share of revenues;
• providing a docking station between the
NHS and the life sciences industry that
enables ethically sourced, anonymised
patient data to be analysed using Clinical AI
to accelerate medical research and
improve patient care;
• developing scientific leadership in the
development and use of software tools
based upon a fusion of medical and
computer science, in alignment with the
values of the NHS and proving the value
for patients and shareholders from the
effective use of these tools; and
• being a great place to work, develop
and make a difference.
The Company has made excellent progress
over the past year in each of these elements.

Double bottom line business model

Our policy is to be a for-profit company listed
on the London Stock Exchange that creates
value and delivers significant public impact from
accelerating the discovery and development
of new medicines and improving patient
care through the ethical use of clinical artificial
intelligence. This “double bottom line”
approach requires us to create a coalition of
support for our strategy between the NHS
community, the investment community and
the life sciences industry. I am delighted to
report on the excellent progress that the
Company has made in its first year as a public
company in building this coalition and
delivering strong results.

10
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Our strategy recognises the importance
of maintaining society’s consent for the
way in which patient data is used and for
providing a fair return back to the NHS via
equity ownership and a share of revenues.
We regard delivering benefits to patients as
our primary objective, and by achieving that
objective we both maintain public confidence
in the use of patient data for the benefit of the
wider community and provide an attractive
financial return to the people who invest in
our Company and enable us to do the
work we do.
From inception, we have appreciated the
vital importance of engaging with the public,
the UK Government and Members of
Parliament to discuss and help develop an
understanding of the potential benefits of
Clinical AI and the important safeguards
that are needed to ensure that research
is undertaken in a way that maintains public
confidence and support. We have also
engaged in making the case for the UK
to create an attractive environment for
data-driven health technology companies
and their investors. Over the past year we
have seen a growing appreciation, within
Government, the media and the life sciences
industry, of the value of real-world evidence
gained from the analysis of anonymised
patient data. The recent publication of the
EY report on the value of NHS data concluded
that an annual return to the UK Government
of £10 billion per annum could be realised
if a well-curated national database of linked
primary and secondary care data were
created. Research by YouGov, commissioned
by Sensyne Health, concluded that Members
of Parliament and the British public support
the use of patient data for medical discovery,
provided that appropriate controls are in
place and that the NHS receives a fair
financial return. During the year, working
alongside JPMorgan, EY, Peel Hunt, Microsoft
and Bayer, we have made good progress in
developing policy advice and engaging with
the UK Government and its advisers to enable
the UK to develop an effective national
patient data strategy.

STRATEGIC REPORT

This has involved participation in a number
of consultation processes over the past year
which have included the development of the
UK Industrial Strategy in Life Sciences and
led to the publication of the UK Government’s
Code of Conduct for data-driven health and
care technology, to which Sensyne Health
was an early signatory. These discussions
are taking place within the context of a
growing public appreciation of the potential
threat from the misuse of personal data, the
potential impact of AI on society and a
backlash towards global tech companies and
the “surveillance capital” business model. In
this context, Sensyne Health’s “Capitalism 2.0”
model is seen as a new and improved
approach as people come to realise that the
best AI is built on the best algorithms which
in turn are trained on the best data. As that
data resides with the NHS, a new model is
required that is in alignment with the values of
the NHS, one that makes patients its priority
and provides a fair economic return to the
NHS. The Sensyne Health model provides a
unique point of difference with other
commercial organisations and is a key
strategic advantage for the Company.

Providing a docking station
between the NHS and the life
sciences industry

Sensyne Health operates at the interface
of healthcare delivery and pharmaceutical
R&D. Our scientists and clinicians work
to develop new software tools that enable
patients and clinicians to improve care and
enable pharmaceutical scientists to discover
and develop new medicines more efficiently.
This work depends on the development of
a fusion of medical and computer science
capability. Our results demonstrate the
significant benefits that our work is bringing
to patients, the NHS and the UK economy.
Nevertheless, it is important to recognise
the significant technical and organisational
challenges that the Company faces as it
works in partnership with NHS Trusts to

curate, link and label the large and complex
sets of anonymised patient data so that
they are ready for analysis to derive the
insights of potential value to clinicians and
pharmaceutical scientists. Medical data is
complex, and IT systems within NHS Trusts
are imperfect and vary in capability and
modernity across the NHS. This requires
the Company to invest in the personnel
and systems needed alongside the NHS
Trusts and to develop the expertise and
relationships required to partner effectively
with these organisations.
Post-IPO, the signing of our first major
pharmaceutical agreement with Bayer, to
apply our Clinical AI to improve the development
of new cardiovascular drugs, was a major
milestone for the Company. It is focused on
cardiovascular disease, the leading clinical
priority for the NHS under the NHS Long Term
Plan, and of major commercial importance to
Bayer in its leading therapeutic area of focus.
Our business development pipeline is
advancing strongly, and we anticipate signing
additional agreements with pharmaceutical
companies in a number of therapeutic areas
in our second year as a public company.
Our recent announcement of an agreement
with a Fortune 200 company to become our
sales and marketing partner in the United States
completes the set of objectives set out at
IPO and provides a strong foundation for
future growth.
During the financial year we signed Strategic
Research Agreements with five NHS Trusts
and are on track to create a network of
collaborations that creates a patient population
of at least five million patients. Our work
with these NHS Trusts, and users of our
software tools, is already delivering significant
improvements to patient care. We have received
strong interest from NHS Trusts across the
UK in developing additional Strategic
Research Agreements.

Developing scientific leadership

The work undertaken by our R&D team in
collaboration with the University of Oxford
has made good progress. Highlights have
been the development of an algorithm for
machine-learning-based clustering of real-world
data to identify patient sub-groups; the
prediction of stroke using machine learning
based on routinely collected clinical variables;
the analysis of Phase II and Phase III clinical
trials data and progress in our whole genome
sequencing programme in asthma.
During the year we developed and launched
two major software products: SEND 19.1,
and GDm-Health 18.1. The feedback from
patients and clinicians on the quality and
effectiveness of these products has been
excellent. Both of these products were
invented and clinically tested by the University
of Oxford and the Oxford University Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust working in partnership.
They were then subsequently licensed
to Sensyne Health, which completed their
development and deployment in the wider NHS.
In June we announced the creation of LAB10x
in partnership with Evotec, OUI and OSI. LAB10x
will provide a bridge between Sensyne Health
and the research being undertaken at the
University of Oxford in the fields of clinical
artificial intelligence and digital health. With the
establishment of the Fortune 200 company
relationship in the United States, we have
now created an efficient pathway for digital
health and Clinical AI innovations to transfer
from the University of Oxford labs, via clinical
validation in the NHS and then to scalable
deployment across the UK and the
United States.

Sensyne Health plc
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Chief Executive Officer’s statement continued

Being a great place to work,
develop and make a difference

We operate in a highly competitive environment
for talent where people with the skills and
expertise that we need to deliver on our mission
are in short supply and have many attractive
options on where to work. Our social impact
business model and our focus on patients are
important factors in attracting and retaining the
right people to work at Sensyne Health and in
building a world-class team able to develop
and scale the business. Key to this is being
a great place to work and develop, embracing
diversity, attracting talent internationally, and
creating a fusion of world-class expertise in
medical and computer science.
I am delighted by the quality of the team that
we have built thus far and their commitment
to our mission. I am confident that we will
continue to attract the right people as we
grow and as the Sensyne Health model and
its impact becomes more widely appreciated.

Looking ahead

Since the year end the Company has continued
to make good progress and is well placed to
deliver on its strategy. 2019 was a pivotal year
for the Company and 2020 will be just as
important as we build on the progress we
have made and further create value from
our unique business model.
Sensyne Health has a world-class team of
people who have worked extremely hard over
the past year to deliver these results for patients
and shareholders. I would like to thank them
for their drive and professionalism. I should also
like to express my gratitude to shareholders
for their new and continued support.

Overall there has been excellent progress in
our first year as a public company and I look
forward to updating shareholders at our AGM.
I am excited about Sensyne Health’s future
prospects. Our strategy is working, we are
building a great team and our science is
world class. These will be the foundations
of our success in delivering value for patients
and shareholders in future and in proving the
utility of the Sensyne Health approach to
business with social impact.
Experience over the past year has taught us
that rather than trying to build a portfolio of
small contracts with multiple pharmaceutical
clients that would in time develop into larger
contracts with those clients, we are better
off focusing our efforts on building strategic
relationships from the start with a small
number of clients that develop a broader
R&D partnership relationship with us, as we
have achieved with Bayer. This has had the
effect of reducing our revenue in FY19 and
the revenue to be expected in the six months
to 31 October 2019 and has increased the
proportion of revenue we now have under
contract for the second half of FY20 and for
FY21 than was previously expected. Going
forward we expect this strategy of focusing
on fewer, larger contracts will generate the
best return for shareholders.

Lord Drayson

Chief Executive Officer

Over the past year we have seen a growing appreciation, within Government, the media and the life sciences industry,
of the value of real-world evidence gained from the analysis of anonymised patient data.
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CASE STUDY

Accelerating new treatments
for cardiovascular disease using
Clinical AI in collaboration with
Bayer and the NHS
Overview

Cardiovascular disease is a broad, varied and
serious condition affecting the heart or blood
vessels, and is the leading cause of death
globally. As well as being associated with
damage to arteries in the heart it affects
other organs such as the brain, kidneys and
eyes. The NHS identifies cardiovascular
disease as a clinical priority and the leading
condition where lives can be saved over the
next ten years. The disease currently affects
seven million people in the UK and accounts
for one in four premature deaths1.

Purpose

There is an immediate and essential need
to help improve patient care and advance
the clinical development of treatments for
cardiovascular disease. The costs of clinical
trials for cardiovascular disease are high and
the risk of failure in late-stage clinical trials
is significant. Consequently, investment
in cardiovascular drug development over
the last 20 years has been declining2.
Breakthroughs in the development process
for new cardiovascular disease medicines
are required.

The work

In July 2019 Sensyne Health signed a
two-year pharmaceutical collaboration with
Bayer to accelerate the clinical development
of new treatments for cardiovascular disease
using Sensyne Health’s proprietary Clinical AI
technology platform.

The Sensyne Health Clinical AI platform
analyses anonymised linked genotypic
and phenotypic data sets. AI is then used
to analyse the data to answer specific
clinically relevant questions and generate
new discovery hypotheses. This enables
improvements in pharmaceutical
development, clinical trial design and
the discovery of new medicines.
Sensyne Health is working with Bayer
to address clinical development challenges
by asking clinically relevant questions of
anonymised data sets provided by its partner
NHS Trusts using AI. Sensyne Health will use
statistical approaches together with complex
machine learning methodologies such as the
“deep clustering” algorithms licensed from
the University of Oxford. Sensyne Health will
also use its proprietary algorithms configured
to analyse noisy, sparse electronic patient
record data alongside innovative approaches
such as causal inference. This project
employs a truly interdisciplinary approach
that benefits from the cardiovascular disease
expertise and drug development capabilities
of Bayer with the AI capabilities of Sensyne
Health together with the deep clinical expertise
and longitudinal patient data sets relevant to
cardiovascular disease resident in the NHS.

forms of the disease that patients suffer from.
Our aim is to design clinical trials for new
cardiovascular drugs which have a higher
success rate in Phase II and Phase III.
1 N
 HS England: Cardiovascular disease (CVD), https://
www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/clinical-policy/cvd/,
accessed 20/05.
2 C
 ardiovascular Drug Development: Is it Dead or
Just Hibernating?, Fordyce et al; Journal of the
American College of Cardiology, Volume 65: Issue 15,
pp.1567–1582, 21 April 2015, https://www.
sciencedirect.com/journal/journal-of-the-americancollege-of-cardiology/vol/65/issue/15.

The collaboration with Bayer will
generate revenues of £5m for
Sensyne Health plc.
Sensyne Health’s partner NHS Trusts
will receive a 4% share of all revenues
generated by Sensyne Health under
this collaboration.

Outcomes

The collaboration will initially focus on ways
to improve the identification of heart failure
and stroke across patient populations, and
gain a deeper understanding of the varied
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Strategy

Delivering our strategy
1 “Double bottom line”
A “double bottom line” business
strategy that provides a financial
return back to the NHS Trusts that
partner with the Sensyne Heath
via equity ownership in Sensyne
Heath and a share of royalties.

Our strategy in action

Link to KPIs:

Our partnerships with leading NHS Trusts allows us
access to anonymised patient data. We curate and
analyse this data using proprietary AI methods providing
answers to complex clinical questions. These insights
help to accelerate the discovery and development of new
medicines and medical devices, to improve patient care
and reduce healthcare costs.

• Total R&D expenditure
• Adjusted loss per share
• Operating and adjusted
operating loss
• Revenue
• Adjusted cash used
in operations

Our strategy in action

Link to KPIs:

2 Data library
Through our NHS partnerships,
and under a rigorous information
governance framework, we have
access to large quantities of rich,
anonymised patient data. This
includes information on genomics,
prescriptions, diagnoses, imaging,
pathology and outcomes. When
combined with our proprietary
Clinical AI methods, we can
uncover patterns in the data and
provide actionable insights for the
life sciences industry.

We work closely with leading clinicians in our partner Trusts
to understand the patient journey on a clinical pathway,
and how the different data sets available within each Trust
link to these pathways. This enables us to contextualise
specific research questions and understand how
the different data sets can be optimally used to provide
solutions that support our projects. We also work with our
partner Trusts to support work on operational efficiency.

• Total R&D expenditure
• Unique patient records
• Patient encounters

3 Portfolio of Clinical AI technologies
A portfolio of proprietary Clinical AI
technologies that combine leading
medical and computer science
expertise developed internally
and through a long-standing
research partnership between
the University of Oxford and
OUH NHS Foundation Trust.
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Our strategy in action

Our AI-driven analysis of anonymised NHS data has the
potential to accelerate discovery in life sciences exponentially,
leading to new diseases and better care for patients.
To achieve this, we take an integrated, multidisciplinary
approach that is first and foremost clinically led. By combining
a deep understanding of clinical practice with established
and novel AI methods, we make sense of huge quantities
of patient data and provide actionable insights for the life
sciences industry. Our team includes some of the best
talent from top educational and research institutions
around the world, with published papers in eminent
scientific journals and a passion for pushing the
boundaries of scientific and medical discovery.

Link to KPIs:
•
•
•
•

Total R&D expenditure
Cash at year end
Unique patient records
Patient encounters

STRATEGIC REPORT

‘Bedside to bench’ development
Our AI-driven analysis of real-world patient data has potential to transform the classic
R&D pipeline into a cyclical process, enabling more precise target selection and
accelerating multiple stages of development.

Drug target selection

By analysing phenotypic data from
electronic patient clinical records
combined with genomics and
other -omics data we can provide
pharmaceutical companies with new
insights and target opportunities.

Precision clinical trial design

The insights we produce from analysis of
real-world patient data and panomics can
inform clinical trial design by identifying
more targeted populations, providing time
and cost savings and increasing the
likelihood of successful trials.

Post-launch research
and monitoring

We provide insights to support the
post-launch phase of a particular drug
or device, providing opportunities for
broader application of existing treatments
or devices, or for new healthcare
economics analyses to inform pricing
or reimbursement strategies.

Sensyne Health plc
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Using Clinical AI to personalise the
Title
of this
casefailure
study
treatment
of heart
Reconstruction

Input

Multivariate
input

Encoder

Feature

Optimisation of
reconstruction

Decoder

Selection of
number of
clusters

LOSS

Cluster
optimisation

Overview

Heart failure is a complex disease, and its
character is diverse in its causes, effects and
how patients respond to treatment.

ejection fraction, while the other half have
reduced ejection fraction. For patients with
reduced ejection fraction heart failure there is
currently no treatment.

design and ultimately ensure the right
patients are receiving the right heart
failure drugs.

Purpose

The work

Sensyne Health has applied this advanced
data-driven approach using the single
variable of blood pressure and now intends
to expand the variables beyond blood
pressure to a multi-variable approach using
blood tests, vital signs, electronic health
record data and medical imaging. This machine
learning clustering work will enable Sensyne
Health to identify specific “patterns” across
broader, deeper and more personalised sets
of data to identify specific groups of patients
suffering from different forms of heart failure,
and help to develop personalised treatments
that are effective for particular patient groups.

Despite this complexity and diversity, patients
are treated identically with ACE inhibitors
that help to improve blood supply to the
heart muscle and lower blood pressure and
beta-blockers that manage heart rhythm
and blood pressure; with the aim of improving
heart function. Within heart failure there are
currently recognised differences in a patient’s
heart efficiency.
A measurement system to assess this
efficiency difference – known as “ejection
fraction”, measures the percentage of blood
leaving and entering the heart. Approximately
half of people with heart failure have preserved
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Sensyne Health is using machine-learningbased clustering algorithms that divide
ethically sourced anonymised data into
smaller groups of patients with similar traits
(clusters) to characterise specific trends and
patterns within the subdivided heart failure
patient populations (subpopulations). A newly
developed deep embedded clustering (DEC)
approach uses blood pressure signatures
from over 65,000 admitted patients to identify
and categorise different clusters of patients
based on their blood pressure profile. This
cluster data is then applied to heart disease
to identify subpopulations to drive better
patient stratification, improve clinical trial

Outlook

X

Sensyne Health plc
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CASE STUDY

Improving stroke prediction using
Clinical AI
Data processing

Demographics

Encounters

Vitals

Co-morbidities

Labs

Prescriptions

Medications

Clean, reformat and restructure the tables

Sequential records
Create a sequential frame for a given patient with one target value at the end of N visits

Variable interval
Visit 1

Visit 2

Visit N

X1

X2

XN

Age = 67

Age = 69

Systolic BP = 120

Systolic BP = 135

WBC = 101
...

WBC = 250
...

Overview

Stroke is a serious life-threatening condition that affects around
100,000 adults and children in the UK every year. Stroke happens
when the blood supply to part of the brain is cut off. It is considered a
medical emergency where the speed of treatment directly affects the
amount of brain damage a patient may suffer.
The current clinical guidelines used by clinicians in primary care for
estimating and scoring individual stroke probability consider wellestablished risk factors such as high blood pressure, cholesterol, age,
level of activity, smoking and diabetes.

Purpose

Electronic health records (EHR) have the potential to provide additional
information that could be used to predict stroke risk, particularly when
using AI and machine learning to research, contextualise and draw
predictive conclusions from EHR data. EHR data has the added
benefit that it is routinely collected in hospital at a higher frequency
and scale than traditional well-established risk factor information.

...

Age = 71
Systolic BP = 141
WBC = 207
...

The work

The Translational Medicine team at Sensyne Health has developed a
recurrent deep neural network algorithm for predicting the risk of
ischaemic stroke on readmission. The method takes into
consideration the established risk factors as well as EHR data such as
vital signs, comorbidities, laboratory results and demographic
information. Anonymised data from Sensyne Health’s partner Oxford
University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust was used to compare the
performance of traditionally established risk factors and other
conventional methods against a machine learning approach
combining conventional methods with EHR data.

Outcomes

Sensyne Health’s new approach has shown promising preliminary
results, outperforming both clinical standard and alternative machine
learning methods.
References:
Goldstein, B. A. et al. (2017) ‘Opportunities and challenges in
developing risk prediction models with electronic health records data:
a systematic review’, Journal of the American Medical Informatics
Association, 24(1), pp. 198–208.
Sensyne Health plc
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Risk management and viability statement

Principal risks

The Board sets out in the table below the
principal risks and uncertainties that the
Directors consider could adversely impact
the business, together with an explanation
of how they are managed and controlled.
Some risks are common across the industry,
while others reflect current business operations,
political climate or specific strategy.

These risks have been identified through
our risk management process, which we
continually evaluate based on an assessment
of the likelihood of occurrence and magnitude
of potential impact, together with the
effectiveness of our risk mitigation controls.
We recognise that nature and scope of risks
can change and that there may be other risks
to which we are exposed and so this list is
not intended to be exhaustive.

Risk and potential impact

The Directors confirm that they have undertaken
a robust assessment of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the business, including
those which would threaten the business model,
future performance, solvency or liquidity
and have reviewed how these risks are
being managed together with any mitigation.
More information on our risk management
framework can be found in the Corporate
Governance Statement on pages 31 to 33.

Management and mitigation

Operational risks
Commercial success

This will be at risk if we fail to make new discoveries from the patient
data or fail to receive clinical and market acceptance of the products
developed from our discoveries or rights to commercialise our
intellectual property (IP). Risk of the presence of cheaper or more
effective alternatives in the market.

By engaging with clinicians in the early stage of development of a
Clinical AI service, we have a higher confidence that the results of the
Clinical AI analysis are clinically pertinent and commercially viable.
We work closely with our collaborators and partners to ensure we meet
their expectations and sustain long-term value-creating relationships.

Reliance on Strategic Research Partners (SRP) for anonymised patient data
There is a risk that we fail to secure additional SRPs which will restrict
the diversity of patient data available to us and our ability to identify
insights of potential value and therefore IP. If we fail to renew past
the current term with existing agreements, we will be unable to
secure data from those SRPs.
We may fail to obtain approval from SRPs to access and analyse
patient data for a specific project which may have a material impact
on delivering to our customers.

Delay for provision of anonymised patient data

Risk that a delay in the provisioning of anonymised data, for any reason
or under any circumstance, will have a material impact on our business
such as contract breach, reputational risk and ultimately loss of confidence
from the market and investors and therefore future revenues.

We maintain and build the relationships with our SRPs through our
“double bottom line” business model, providing equity, revenue share
and research funding. This provides an alignment of interests, enabling
ongoing analysis of data and future renewal of our agreements.
Our established protocols on information governance enable ethical
analysis of data, and we maintain continuous dialogue with our SRPs
to ensure we are aligning our projects with analysis requests they
will approve.

Our Strategic Research Agreements (SRA) are structured intentionally
in a way that enables the provision of additional resources to the Trusts
such that they can invest in the required infrastructure to prevent any
delays in the provisioning of anonymised patient data.
In addition, we have a dedicated data engineering team that provides a
layer of support during our SRA due diligence process and thereafter
in respect to the anonymisation, curation and approval of patient data.

Reliance on pharmaceutical collaborations

The risk of economic reliance on a few material pharmaceutical
customers that either we fail to deliver to or which decide to reduce
their expenditure on commercialising products created by our IP
could lead to a material loss of revenue.

Technology and competition

Our technology and discoveries could be rendered obsolete by
alternative technology or research. We may fail to adapt and develop
our technology with technological changes and industry trends.
Any failure associated with these risks will have a material impact
on our competitiveness and financial performance.
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We continue to broaden our customer pipeline to manage the risk
of being overly dependent on any one client. Our Board, business
development team and leadership team comprise experienced
professionals who have a long-standing reputation within the life
sciences, biotechnology and pharmaceutical sector and have a wide
network of academic and industry contacts in multiple countries.

We have invested in innovative technology and product development
to broaden the tools at our disposal and range of therapeutic focus.
This reduces our exposure to the inherent risk in clinical development.
We continue to invest in our technology and scientific capabilities
and market reach to create value for our clients, differentiate
our portfolio of services and remain competitive.

STRATEGIC REPORT

Risk and potential impact

Management and mitigation

Operational risks continued
Market and competition

The risk that competition with greater financial, technical, data and
marketing resources render us uncompetitive, which in turn would
have a material adverse effect on the business.

People

The risk that we fail to attract, recruit, develop and retain the global
talent needed to deliver our R&D programmes and growth plans in
our chosen markets. The loss of key employees could also weaken
our scientific, technical and management capabilities and
negatively impact our business.

Procurement

There is a potential for over-dependence on a limited number of
suppliers. There are only a limited number of suppliers which are
compliant with the Data Security and Protection Toolkit, so the pool
of potential suppliers that we can use is limited, and there is a risk
that supplier failure stops us from delivering business-critical operations.

Financial operations

Risk that we fail to secure additional financing in the medium to long
term and may be unable to raise sufficient capital which could prevent
us from executing our strategy.

We are continuously building and strengthening close collaborative,
academic, the NHS, other healthcare providers and industry partnerships,
in the UK and abroad. This enables us to maintain our competitive
advantage. Only opportunities that are commercially viable and
approved by the Board are pursued or undertaken. We continue to
diversify by expanding into new therapeutic areas which provides
some mitigation against a reduction in expenditure by pharmaceutical
clients in an existing therapeutic area.

We have a robust talent and succession planning process, including
annual assessments of our talent pool and active leadership development
programmes. Our reward and remuneration policies are reviewed
regularly, to ensure their competitiveness. We work closely with
specialist recruitment agencies, to identify candidates with the skills
we need. We adopt a best in class mentality to our recruitment.

As part of our Quality Management System (QMS) we have implemented
detailed procurement processes, with due diligence policies, standards
and procedures. We consider potential supplier failure as part of our
overall business continuity and resilience planning. We are compliant
with the Data Security and Protection (DSP) Toolkit and keep it updated
on a yearly basis. We constantly monitor suppliers and their compliance
with security requirements, and we use ISO 27001 certification as proof
of best practice.

Corporate planning is undertaken that includes, but is not limited to,
an annual plan and budget each year that is subject to Board review.
Reforecasts are undertaken periodically throughout the year. We
keep in close contact with a wide network across the investment
community to continuously appraise the funding landscape.

Regulatory and compliance risks
Regulatory and compliance

We operate in a regulated environment. Changes to regulations could
negatively impact our ability to implement our strategy, and failure
to adhere to any legal or regulatory requirements could lead to
sanctions, redress costs, reputational risk, contract breach and,
ultimately, loss of operating licences or invalid contracts, or loss of
investor confidence resulting in reduced revenues and/or
withdrawal of products from the market.

We have an internal Quality Assurance and Regulatory Affairs (QARA)
team that has direct reporting lines into the CEO and Chair of the Audit
and Risk Committee (ARC). Activities in this area are reviewed by the
Executive team and ARC on a regular basis. We can offset the costs
of regulation by developing new services and products that help clients
manage their own regulatory burden. We continually monitor for
upcoming, new or amendments to regulations, to ensure we comply on
time. We participate in industry bodies so that we can manage change
accordingly. We have also invested in additional senior resource as part
of continuous improvement and to enable us to be resilient as new
regulations arise. We deliver regular training for all employees working
in regulated areas, so they understand the rules and requirements they
must comply with. Our QMS is compliant with ISO 13485, which requires
continuous monitoring of product performance and clinical safety.

Sensyne Health plc
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Risk management and viability statement continued

Risk and potential impact

Management and mitigation

Regulatory and compliance risks continued
Regulatory approval for digital health software products
Changes in regulation may require us to re-apply for approval or
prevent the further use of those products.

Data protection and privacy

The risk that a loss, corruption or compromise of personal data
could lead to a poor customer experience, customer detriment,
reputational harm, regulatory, legal or financial sanction, loss
of customers, loss of investor confidence and increased costs.

We manage this risk by employing highly experienced professionals who,
where appropriate, will commission advice from external advisers and
consult with regulatory authorities on the design of any products or
programmes that may be required. These in-house experts will ensure
that high quality protocols and other necessary documentation are
submitted during the regulatory process.

We have a dedicated QARA team, with experienced compliance
personnel. Specific figures required by the national and international
(GDPR) legislations have been formally appointed (DPO, SIRO, IAO,
Caldicott Guardian). We operate a staff training and awareness
programme, so our people understand the criticality of data protection.
Ownership of data protection risk in the business has been embedded
through our risk management and policy framework. We have a
programme to deploy up-to-date security software on all key
systems. We undertake regular risk and vulnerability assessments, to
review and address any changes or new risks in data protection. We
employ appropriate encryption and data backup to protect our data.
Third-party data security evaluations assure our data protection and
help us to improve further.

Cyber security and data security

A cyber-attack, whether by a third party or insider, may incur significant
costs (including liability for stolen assets or information) repairing any
damage caused to our network infrastructure and systems.
The failure to prevent or a major non-conformity may also incur severe
reputational damage and loss of investor confidence.

We have an ISO 27001 aligned compliant control framework.
We have an ongoing programme of investment in internal and
external cyber security. We continuously review our cyber security
capability and emerging threats. Our IT infrastructure is subjected
to regular penetration tests. We deploy extensive security measures
to deny unauthorised access to our premises, equipment and
resources and to protect personnel and property from damage or
harm. We use externally licensed software designed to anonymise
patient data at the point of source, minimising the risk in the event
of a cyber security breach. We have responded to the changes in
data privacy regulations to ensure compliance. We conduct regular
reviews to ensure our systems are robust and these reviews, updates
and incidents are provided to the ARC. Our ongoing programme of
investment in improved controls ensures we maintain our position,
in an environment where the external threat remains challenging.

Business continuity, resilience and incident management
If we fail to effectively plan for and manage unplanned events it could
lead to poor customer experience, customer detriment, reputational
harm, regulatory sanction, loss of customers, lower productivity,
reduced revenues and increased costs.
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We have detailed business continuity and disaster recovery plans,
which we test and review regularly. We employ dual hosting of critical
servers, telecommunications and applications, to help ensure their
availability. We have separate business continuity or disaster recovery
sites available to the business. We work closely with highly regulated
service providers which we outsource services to, ensure our own
resilience. The business continuity plan covers all critical operations,
including, but not limited to: IT, data security, product deployment,
finance, HR and operations.
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Risk and potential impact

Management and mitigation

Intellectual property risks
Intellectual property (IP) and proprietary technology
The risk that we fail to protect our IP and proprietary technology,
which could mean internally developed discoveries, methods,
systems and technology become freely available to third parties.

The risk that changes in law and jurisprudence could limit our ability
to obtain new patents that may be important to our future.

We maintain business know-how and knowledge in our QMS and
Standard Operating Procedures. We have a robust cross-functional
process to identify and protect our IP and proprietary technology. We
employ an in-house IP counsel and closely work with best in class IP
attorneys. Our customer contracts, academic collaborations and joint
venture partners include appropriate measures to protect our IP and
proprietary technology. We maintain IP and proprietary technology
landscape watches and where necessary conduct robust “freedom
to operate” searches, to identify third-party rights to technology, and
oppositions are filed when appropriate.

Political and market risk
The UK’s exit from the EU

We may need to comply with new regulatory requirements and newly
created frameworks in the UK and may need to put in place additional
regulatory infrastructure inside the EEA, such as designation of an
authorised representative within that territory.

We will continue to review the situation, with special focus on the
harmonisation of regulatory approval and patent law, as well as any
potential impact on existing staff and planned staff recruitment
caused by any changes in immigration legislation.

It could result in restrictions on the movement of capital and people,
which may impact our ability to recruit and retain personnel with the
necessary scientific, medical and technical skills we require. It could
also affect our ability to sell our products to the EU.

We continue to assess and monitor the potential risks and impacts
of these changes on our customers, suppliers and colleagues so that
we can take appropriate action.

Any of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

UK Government and UK patient data strategy

The risk that change in government party, or government policy
related to patient data strategy, may adversely affect the ability to
execute our own business strategy successfully.

Global capital markets risk

General market trends, which are unrelated to the performance of the
Group itself, may have an adverse effect on our market capitalisation.

In the near term, we support our staff in securing the appropriate
work permits.

Our CEO is a member of the House of Lords and former Science
Minister and is abreast of all current developments. Through our
network we garner reliable insights and political intelligence about
public policy development at all levels of government and Parliament,
and inputs on aspects of the legislative process to developing
lobbying strategies around them.

Our nominated adviser and wider investor network keep us updated
on market developments including the technology, biotech and pharma
sectors. We are in continuous proactive dialogue with investors and
the wider investor community to manage the capital market risk.

Viability statement
The UK Corporate Governance Code requires the Board to assess
the prospects of the Group over a period longer than the twelve
months required by going concern provisions and to issue a “viability
statement”. The Board has assessed the Group’s prospects and
viability for a minimum of a two-year period from the date of signing
this report (the “assessment period”). This assessment period is
deemed appropriate for the nature of the Group’s current operations
and stage of development, in which external factors and key drivers
of our business can be reasonably forecast.
In making this assessment, the Board took account of the Group’s
current financial position, annual budget, forecasts and sensitivity

testing. The Board also considered a number of other factors including
the Group’s operational business model, its risk management and
internal control effectiveness and whether the principal risks and
uncertainties, alone or combined, taking into account management
and mitigation, would be likely to impact the Group’s viability during
the assessment period. The Group has a strong balance sheet,
with net cash, which is expected to continue.
Based on this assessment, the Directors confirm that they have a
reasonable expectation that the Company will be able to continue
in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the
assessment period.
Sensyne Health plc
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CASE STUDY

GDm-Health – a case
study used by the NHS to
demonstrate the direct benefit
of data-driven innovation
Overview

GDm-Health is a patient app-to-clinician
software system that helps pregnant women
and their care teams significantly improve the
way they monitor and manage diabetes in
pregnancy while minimising the need for
additional face-to-face clinic appointments.
Following a two-year clinical trial, GDmHealth is now available across the NHS and
has been adopted by 15 NHS Trusts since its
commercial launch in October 2018.

Purpose

As an evidence-based system born out of
clinical need, GDm-Health is an example of
data-driven technology that delivers benefits
to the NHS and its patients safely and
securely. Although GDm-Health was
developed before the initial publication of the
Department of Health’s Code of Conduct for
Data-driven Health and Care Technologies, it
is an exemplar of the principles of the Code in
practice and is being used as a case study
by NHSX.

The work

The Department of Health’s Code of Conduct
comprises ten principles designed to help
health and care providers choose safe,
effective, secure technology to improve the
services they provide. These include:
•

Principle 4: Be fair, transparent and
accountable about what data is
being used

• Every NHS Trust that Sensyne Health
works with has a Data Privacy Impact
Assessment in place. When using
GDm-Health, patients are informed of
Sensyne Health’s use of anonymised data
for research, the patient benefits this data
provides and the opportunity to opt out
via their NHS Trust. Data is never shared
or sold to third parties. Importantly, each
customer’s application and operational
data is separate, meaning that Trusts
which authorise the contribution of
operational data to the common research
data warehouse are reassured that no
patient-identifiable information is shared.
•

Principle 9: Make security integral
to the design

• GDm-Health’s design follows the NHS
Data Security and Protection 2018 Toolkit,
using third parties to independently
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evaluate the security of the system.
Security is integral to the design of all
Sensyne Health products, and all
products comply with the international
standard for information security
management. Any information being
stored using GDm-Health in the device or
in the server, and while it is being
transferred to and from the app and
Sensyne Health’s servers, is encrypted.
Patients and clinicians can also
communicate securely within the system.

Outcomes

GDm-Health is regarded as a gold-standard
example by the NHS of how innovation and
the responsible use of data directly assist
clinicians and improve patient care. It has
empowered women to better manage
diabetes during pregnancy providing vital
assistance and reassurance at what can
be a worrying time. Since its launch over
4,000 women have benefited from using
GDm-Health. There are currently over 900
active users across 15 NHS Trusts and every
month an average of over 500 users start
using the app.
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CASE STUDY
Drugs
Patient 1

Trust 1

...

Trust M

Demographics

Risk Factors

Blood Glucose

Longitudinal records

Anonymisation

SYNE001

Patient 2
Patient 3

Patient 4

Prediction

Patient 5
Patient 6

No Drugs

Development of Sensyne Health’s
first clinical support algorithm
to help clinicians improve the
care of women with diabetes
during pregnancy
Overview

Up to 20% of women are diagnosed with
diabetes during pregnancy. Known as
gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM), it is a
serious condition that can endanger both
mother and child and affect their future
health. The number of women being
diagnosed with GDM is rising globally, yet
monitoring the condition often remains an
inefficient and time-consuming process for
women and their clinicians.

Purpose

In 2018 Sensyne Health launched GDmHealth, an app designed to help women and
clinicians monitor blood glucose levels more
effectively during pregnancy. The app helps
to safely monitor, manage and reduce the
risks associated with diabetes in pregnancy
which include induced labour, caesarean
section, premature birth, high blood pressure
for women and low blood glucose and
jaundice for the baby.

The work

GDm-Health is used in clinical care and
creates a growing set of anonymised data for
research. As more NHS Trusts adopted

GDm-Health during 2018–19, the number of
patients using the app increased and this
rich, real-world anonymised database
reached a size whereby it was large enough
to enable the development and training of a
new software algorithm. The dataset,
collected from 15 NHS Trusts, included
anonymised data from 4,025 women and a
set of 411,785 blood glucose readings.
Research on this database enabled Sensyne
Health to develop a clinically valuable software
algorithm using AI (SYNE001), the first such
clinical support algorithm developed by the
Company. SYNE001 is designed as a new
clinical support tool to help clinicians decide
whether to prescribe medication to better
regulate blood glucose levels.
Using GDm-Health’s longitudinal data to
extract characteristic features of blood
glucose readings (e.g. maximum, minimum
and mean values) and demographic and
clinical information (e.g. age and previous
GDM pregnancies) provided the dataset to
develop the algorithm to identify women
belonging to one of two groups, those who
do not transition to medication and those
who do.

To avoid analysis bias (e.g. selecting an easy
to identify group of women), Sensyne Health
has repeated its experiment 100 times
considering a random subgroup of women
at each repetition.

Outcomes

The Clinical AI SYNE001 algorithm deployed
in GDm-Health has the potential to allow
earlier intervention by identifying women at
risk, enabling prompt clinical review and
initiation of medication. This AI-driven technology
may lead to improved pregnancy outcomes
for both women with GDM and their babies.
After the initial success of its first clinical
algorithm in GDM, Sensyne Health is
developing further clinically valuable AI
algorithms. The algorithms will use research
databases from Sensyne Health’s other
digital health products to provide AI-guided
decision support tools for clinicians and
improve patient care in the areas of
cardiovascular and respiratory disease.
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Chief Financial Officer’s statement

Strong performance

Lorimer Headley
Chief Financial Officer

The year has seen significant growth and
development of Sensyne Health. We have
entered into five new SRAs with the NHS
under our double bottom line model and
conducted a successful listing on the London
Stock Exchange on 17 August 2018.
Together, these enabled us to increase our
investment in research and development,
which led to the launch of our first products
in SEND 19.1 and GDm-Health 18.1, and,
subsequent to the year end, signing our first
major pharmaceutical deal with Bayer. This
has been delivered with our expenditure, cash
used in operations and the cash balance at
year end all within expectations and our
planned objectives at IPO.

Restructuring

To enable our IPO, a restructuring was carried
out of the Drayson Technologies Group, where
the Sensyne Health Group was held prior to
the IPO. Under IFRS, Sensyne Health Group
is required to present the results of Drayson
Technologies Group until the completion of
the restructure, with any elements that are
not related to Sensyne Health shown as
a discontinued operation. This statement
is therefore based on the continuing
operations’ results which represent the
Sensyne Health business.

IPO

We raised £60 million in new funds through our
IPO, having previously received £4.778 million
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in a private pre-IPO round. This provided net
funds to the Group of £59.192 million after
total transaction costs of £5.540 million
(of which £2.652 million is recognised in the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income and £2.888 million is offset against
Share Premium in the Statement of
Financial Position).

pharmaceutical contract was signed after
the year end; therefore no revenue is
recognisable in the year to 30 April 2019.

Progress since IPO

The statutory loss per share was £0.16
(2018: £0.08).

With the funds raised, we have primarily invested
these in R&D as we worked toward our goal
of securing our first major pharmaceutical
deal within two years of our IPO. We also
commenced a lease on our new office at the
Schrödinger Building at the Oxford Science
Park. We continue to use adjusted results as
our primary measure of financial performance
as we believe they reflect the use of funds.

Total R&D expenditure

Our expenditure rose to £9.512 million in the
year (2018: £2.742 million), which primarily
consists of employee and related costs.

Adjusted operating loss

Our adjusted operating loss was
£11.513 million for the year (2018:
£6.222 million). This was driven by our
increased employee costs of £8.101m
(2018: £3.531 million), with the majority of
other expenditure being employee related
items such as office expenditure, fees paid
to recruiters and use of external contractors.
Our statutory operating loss of £19.010 million
(2018: £7.253 million) includes non-cash
items such as share-based payments of
£0.772 million (2018: nil), and amortisation of
the equity we have provided under our SRAs
of £2.901 million (2018: £0.930 million). It also
includes exceptional items, of which
£2.652 million (2018: £nil) relates to the IPO fees
recognised in the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

Revenue

Our revenue for the year was £0.136 million
(2018: £0.081 million), reflecting the initial
revenue recognisable under contracts from
the release of SEND and GDm-Health in the
later part of the year. Our first major

Adjusted loss per share

The adjusted loss per share was £0.10
(2018: £0.06), an increase of 67%, principally
reflecting the increase in R&D expenditure.

Adjusted cash used in operations

The cash used in the year was £9.779 million
(2018: £5.372 million), which tracks the adjusted
operating loss set out above, and our
management of working capital creating
a net inflow of £1.706m (2018: £0.850m).

Cash at year end

The trading above resulted in a cash balance
at year end of £49.252 million (2018: £4.541 million).

Statement of Financial Position

Other than cash, the largest balance at
year end is intangible assets of £18.068 million
(2018: £4.714 million). The largest component
is the value of the equity provided to the
NHS under our SRAs, which is £16.208 million
(2018: £4.083 million).

Outlook and going concern

Following the year end our first major
pharmaceutical deal was signed with Bayer,
which provides income of £5 million over a
two-year period spanning FY20-22. We will
continue to expand our R&D activity
alongside delivering on this contract and
securing new customers. With the funds
available and the analysis carried out and
reported in the viability statement, even in the
absence of any new customer agreements,
the Group has adequate resources to operate
for a period of at least 24 months from the
date of this report.
This Strategic Report was approved by the
Board on 7 October 2019, and signed on
its behalf by

Lorimer Headley

Chief Financial Officer
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Key performance indicators

Unique patient records
(’000)
As at 30 April 2019

2,105
Description

Number of unique patients represented
in the data held by NHS partner Trusts.

Patient encounters
(’000)
As at 30 April 2019

20,057
Description

Number of patient admissions
represented in the data held by
NHS partner Trusts.

Revenue
(£’000)

136
(2018: 81)
19
18

Description

Total revenue from the Group in supply
of services.

Total R&D expenditure
(£’000)

Adjusted operating loss
(£’000)

(2018: 2,742)

(2018: 6,222)

9,512

Operating loss
(£’000)

11,513

19,010

19

19

19

18

18

18

Description

Description

Description

Adjusted cash used in operations
(£’000)

Cash at year end
(£’000)

Adjusted loss per share
(£)

(2018: 5,372)

(2018: 4,541)

(2018: 0.06)

Expenditure incurred or capitalised on
research and development activities net
of amortisation, excluding SRAs.

9,779

Operating loss before exceptional
items, amortisation, depreciation,
loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment and share-based payments.

49,252

(2018: 7,253)

As per the Consolidated Statement
of Comprehensive Income.

0.10

19

19

19

18

18

18

Description

Description

Description

Cash used in operations, less
exceptional items including IPO costs.

Cash resources available.

Loss per share adjusted for exceptional
items, amortisation, depreciation, loss
on disposal of property, plant and
equipment, net finance income and
share-based payments.
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CASE STUDY

Evaluating the potential for
Sensyne in the US healthcare
market – our collaboration
with Jefferson Health
Overview

The US currently spends approximately 18%
of its GDP on healthcare, compared to 10%
in the UK. There are significant potential
opportunities to introduce healthcare
innovations that have been developed and
validated by Sensyne Health, working in
partnership with the NHS, to be exported
to the US. In January 2019 Sensyne Health
entered into a collaboration with Jefferson
Health’s Strategic Ventures arm to undertake
a clinical and health-economic evaluation
of Sensyne Health’s digital health products to
determine their potential in the US market.

Purpose

One of the largest healthcare providers in
Pennsylvania and New Jersey and the fastest
growing health system in the US,
Philadelphia-based Jefferson Health,
has 14 hospitals with 2,800 beds,
6,000 physicians and 7,000
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nursing staff. The system includes the Sidney
Kimmel Cancer Centre and is affiliated with
the Thomas Jefferson University. Jefferson
Health has a track record of supporting
digital health businesses seeking a route into
the US market through collaboration and
shares an interest in the target disease areas
on which Sensyne Health is focused.

The work

As part of the collaboration, Jefferson Health
are piloting GDm-Health in their patients
who develop diabetes during pregnancy.
Jefferson Health has also supported Sensyne
Health’s marketing efforts to secure wider
adoption of GDm-Health across the US.
The collaboration has now extended to
include the identification of new market
opportunities for all of Sensyne Health’s
software products and input into product
definition and design validation.

Outcomes

The work with Jefferson Health is central to
Sensyne Health’s US go-to-market strategy for
its software products including GDm-Health
(monitoring diabetes in pregnancy), EDGE
(monitoring chronic obstructive pulmonary
disease at home) and Support-HF (monitoring
heart failure at home). Additionally, the
collaboration is expected to lead to the
development of new product features and
wholly new products that will benefit patients
in the NHS as well as those in the US and
other countries.
The products connect patients, clinicians
and researchers, generating large databases
of phenotypic data, and enabling discovery
research to improve patient outcomes.
This data will further enrich the clinical insights
that Sensyne Health can provide to support
the development of new therapeutics.
The work that Sensyne Health and Jefferson
Health are undertaking will provide a platform
on which Sensyne Health’s distributor partner
in the US can build a robust sales model.

STRATEGIC REPORT

CASE STUDY

LAB10x – accelerate
data-driven drug discovery
powered by AI
About LAB10x

LAB10x is a business incubator created
to identify pioneering clinical AI and digital
health research projects within the University
of Oxford. LAB10x aims to ensure digital
innovations in healthcare can be realised
and advanced effectively to accelerate data
driven drug discovery, personalised healthcare,
new disease insights, and better diagnosis
and treatments for patients.
LAB10x was formed in June 2019, through
a strategic partnership between Sensyne Health,
German drug discovery company Evotec,
Oxford Sciences Innovation (OSI), the world’s
largest investment fund dedicated to a single
university’s IP commercialisation and Oxford
University Innovation, the tech transfer arm
of the university.
The incubator will support the early
development of each potential spin-out,
assisting with investment readiness, licensing
opportunities and translating research projects
into breakthrough digital therapeutics and
clinical AI algorithms that deliver benefits to
patients and provide solutions to current
unmet medical needs.

LAB10x will be supported by a fund of £5 million
for an initial three-year period. Awards of up
to £250,000 will be made to chosen teams
that have applied. Participants stay with the
programme for between six and twelve months
and benefit from being able to develop
software in a regulatory-compliant environment,
receive product development and business
support from a team of specialists under the
supervision of an ‘Expert in Residence’
seconded from Sensyne Health.
As part of the programme, successful
projects agree to give a proportion of equity
to Sensyne Health, Evotec and the University
of Oxford. Both companies, together with
OSI, also have the right to co-invest in seed
financing rounds. Where company creation is
not the chosen commercial path, Sensyne
Health have the option to licence IP generated
by the selected projects.
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Board of Directors

N

Charles Swingland

Lord Drayson

Lorimer Headley

Non-Executive Chairman

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

SKILLS AND EXPERIENCE

SKILLS AND EXPERIENCE

SKILLS AND EXPERIENCE

Charles Swingland joined PowderJect
Pharmaceuticals Plc in 1996 as Senior Vice
President of Corporate Services and General
Counsel, after several years as a partner in a law
firm in the City of London. In 2006, Charles
co-founded Circassia Pharmaceuticals plc,
which went public in March 2014 in the
largest initial public offering of shares by
a European biotechnology company.

EXTERNAL APPOINTMENTS

Chairman of Adiga Life Sciences Limited

Lord Drayson is an engineer and science
entrepreneur who has over 25 years of
experience in founding and leading successful
businesses in food manufacturing, bioscience
and motorsport research and development.

EXTERNAL APPOINTMENTS

Member of Her Majesty’s Privy Council, a
Fellow of the Institution of Engineering and
Technology, a Fellow of the Royal Academy
of Engineering and a non-executive director
of Airbus

Lorimer Headley was awarded his
Masters at Heriot-Watt University in 1999,
following which he became a Chartered
Accountant and spent 16 years with
PricewaterhouseCoopers in Edinburgh,
Aberdeen, London and the United States.
He has a demonstrated history of taking
emerging technology businesses through
exceptional growth, creating new business
and commercial models.

EXTERNAL APPOINTMENTS
None

R

A
R

Professor Lionel Tarassenko

Andrew Gilbert

Dr. Annalisa Jenkins

Non-Executive Director & Director of R&D

Senior Independent Director

Independent Non-Executive Director

SKILLS AND EXPERIENCE

SKILLS AND EXPERIENCE

SKILLS AND EXPERIENCE

Professor Tarassenko is a leading expert
in the application of signal processing
and machine learning to healthcare, with a
strong track record in translation to clinical
medicine. His work has had a major impact
on acute care and the management of
chronic disease.

EXTERNAL APPOINTMENTS

Non-Executive Director of Oxford
University Innovation Limited and Director
of Oxehealth Limited
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Andrew served as Executive Vice President
and Corporate Officer at Qualcomm Inc
where he was regional President and
Divisional President of several product
divisions. Andrew has expertise in
technology licensing and has served on
several boards including a Qualcomm and
Verizon joint venture where he also served
as chair of the remuneration committee.

EXTERNAL APPOINTMENTS

Chairman and Remuneration Committee
Chair of Wirepas Oy, board observer at
Telensa Ltd. Director of Gildrew Limited

Annalisa has a degree in Medicine from
St. Bartholomew’s Hospital, served as a
medical officer in the British Navy and was
a specialist registrar in Cardiovascular Medicine
with the NHS. Previous roles include SVP
and Head of global medical at Bristol Myers
Squibb, Head of Global R&D at Merck Serono
and CEO of Dimension Therapeutics a
Nasdaq listed company that was acquired by
Ultragenyx in 2017.

EXTERNAL APPOINTMENTS

Chair of the boards of Cell Medica Limited,
Vium Inc., and Cocoon Biotech Inc. Member
of publicly listed boards, Ardelyx, Oncimmune,
Avrobio and AGEX. Member of Science
Committee of US FDA. Chair of the Court
of the London School of Hygiene and
Tropical Medicine

A

N

R

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A

Key to committees
A

Audit and Risk Committee

N

Nominations Committee

R

Remuneration Committee
Committee Chair

Mary Hardy

Dr. Vishal Gulati

Independent Non-Executive Director

Independent Non-Executive Director

SKILLS AND EXPERIENCE

SKILLS AND EXPERIENCE

Mary Hardy is a chartered accountant
and former partner at Ernst & Young with
20 years’ subsequent experience as Director
of Internal Audit and Assurance for Diageo,
Transport for London and the London
Olympics. Previously, she was a member
of the audit committees of HM Treasury
and the Institute of Chartered Accountants.

EXTERNAL APPOINTMENTS

Non-Executive Director and Chair of Audit
and Risk Committees of the Oil and Gas
Authority, the Royal Navy and member
of the Audit and Risk Committees for the
Ministry of Defence and the Commonwealth
Games Federation

Dr. Vishal Gulati is one of Europe’s leading
venture capitalist’s investing in companies
that lie at the convergence of healthcare
with data science.
Vishal serves on the board of public and
private companies improving health
outcomes by using data and digital
technologies including Kheiron Medical,
Clue, Lifesum and Ieso Digital Health.

EXTERNAL APPOINTMENTS

Chairman of Digital Health Forum and
serves on Innovate UK’s Major
Award Committee

N

Sir Bruce Keogh
Independent Non-Executive Director
SKILLS AND EXPERIENCE

During a decade as the most senior doctor
in the NHS he had responsibility for national
clinical policy and strategy, with a focus on
clinical leadership, quality and innovation at
a time of constrained public sector growth.

EXTERNAL APPOINTMENTS

Chair of Birmingham Women’s and
Children’s NHS Foundation Trust.
Non-Executive Director of the Cell and
Gene Therapy Catapult and on the Board
of LumiraDx
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Chairman’s introduction

Dear shareholders,

Charles Swingland
Non-Executive Chairman

I am pleased to introduce the Corporate
Governance Statement. In this section of
our Report we have set out our approach to
governance and provided further information
on how the Board and its Committees operate.
As a company listed on AIM, we recognise
that applying good governance principles is
essential to the successful running of the
Group. Since September 2018 all AIM quoted
companies have been required to provide a
statement of compliance with a recognised
Corporate Governance Code. Whilst the
Group is not required to adopt the UK
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”),
which has been drafted with companies
listed on the premium segment of the Official
List in mind, at the time of our IPO in August
2018 we chose to adopt the 2016 version of
the Code as it is our intention, where practicable,
to follow the highest standard in UK
corporate governance.
In preparation for our admission to AIM the
Company undertook a detailed governance
assessment and implemented the majority of
the provisions of the Code and published an
initial statement of compliance on our website.
This statement is intended to provide an
update to the initial statement published
in September 2018.
Prior to our admission to AIM in August 2018,
the Group was privately owned and was not
required to adopt a Corporate Governance
Code. During the period from 1 May 2018 to
admission the Group was headed by Drayson
Technologies Limited (DTL), which is now a
subsidiary of Sensyne Health plc. DTL had six
Non-Executive Directors, and both an Audit
and a Remuneration Committee in order to
operate to high standards of governance.
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This Annual Report covers the year to
30 April 2019 and so we are reporting against
the 2016 version of the Code which is applicable
to this period. The 2018 version of the Code
(the “New Code”) applies to financial periods
starting on 1 January 2019. The Board has,
however, considered the impact of the New
Code and identified those areas requiring further
attention over the coming year. We will report
on any changes to the Company’s governance
framework in next year’s Annual Report
and Accounts.
Other than matters relating to the Company
being in operation for less than one year, the
only instance of non-compliance relates to
the appointment of myself as Interim Chairman.
The details of any instances of non-compliance
are set out in the Report below.

Charles Swingland

Non-Executive Chairman

Statement of Compliance
with the UK Corporate
Governance Code
The UK Corporate Governance Code (the
“Code”) sets out the principles of good practice
in relation to corporate governance. The
Code is published by the Financial Reporting
Council (FRC) and the 2016 version of the
Code can be found on their website
(www.frc.org.uk).
The principles of the Code are divided into
five sections. Each section sets out the main
principles relating to Leadership, Effectiveness,
Accountability, Remuneration, and Relations
with Shareholders. This Report explains how
Sensyne Health has applied these principles.

Leadership
The role of the Board

The Board is responsible for formulating,
reviewing and approving the Group’s strategy,
budgets and corporate actions, and is
collectively responsible for the long-term
success of the Company. Certain matters are
specifically reserved for decision by the Board
and documented in a written schedule which
will also be reviewed annually, and these include:
• setting the Company’s values and standards;
• reviewing and approving risk appetite and
determining the nature and extent of the
significant risks it is willing to take to achieve
strategic objectives;
• overseeing controls, audit processes
and risk management policies;
• approving the Financial Statements,
revenue and capital expenditure; and
• approving material agreements.
The Board meets regularly to help ensure it
discharges its duties effectively. There were
five formal meetings during the 2019 financial
year; supplementary meetings were
scheduled as required.
Non-Executive Directors communicate
directly with Executive Directors and senior
management between formal Board meetings.

Board Committees

The Board has established an Audit and Risk
Committee, a Remuneration Committee and
a Nomination Committee, each with formally

delegated duties and responsibilities and with
written terms of reference. Copies of all the
Committee terms of reference are available
on the Company’s website or on request
from the Company Secretary. The Board has
also established a Disclosure Committee.
The terms of reference of each Committee
were approved by the Board prior to admission
to AIM. It is intended that these will be kept
under continuous review to ensure they remain
appropriate and reflect any changes in
legislation, regulation or best practice. Each
Committee is comprised of Non-Executive
Directors of the Company. The Company
Secretary is the secretary of each Committee.

Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee is chaired
by Mary Hardy and its other members during
the period were Dr Annalisa Jenkins and
Dr Vishal Gulati. All members are independent.
The Audit and Risk Committee assists the
Board in discharging its responsibilities with
regard to financial reporting, including
reviewing the Group’s annual and half-year
Financial Statements and accounting
policies, internal and external audit and
controls reviewing and monitoring the scope
of the annual audit and the extent of the
non-audit work undertaken by external auditors
advising on the appointment of external
auditors and reviewing the effectiveness of
the Group’s corporate governance, internal
audit and controls, risk management,
whistleblowing and fraud systems. It receives
and reviews reports from the Group’s
management and auditor relating to the
annual accounts and the risk management
and internal control systems in use throughout
the Group. The Audit and Risk Committee
meets at least three times a year and has
unrestricted access to the Group’s auditor.
The Chairman, Chief Executive and Chief
Financial Officer may attend the Committee
meetings by invitation.
The Audit and Risk Committee Report on
pages 34 to 35 contains more detailed
information on the Committee’s role.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is chaired
by Andrew Gilbert. Its other members during
the period were Dr Annalisa Jenkins and
Dr Vishal Gulati. All members are fully
independent. The Remuneration Committee

reviews the performance of the Executive
Directors and makes recommendations
to the Board on matters relating to their
remuneration and terms of employment.
The Remuneration Committee also makes
recommendations to the Board on proposals
for the granting of share options and other
equity incentives pursuant to any share
option scheme or equity incentive scheme
in operation from time to time. The remuneration
of the Non-Executive Directors of the Group
is a matter for the Chairman and Executive
Directors. The Chief Executive Officer is invited
to attend for some parts of the Committee
meetings where his input is required although
he does not take part in any discussion on
his own benefits and remuneration.
The Remuneration Committee Report on
pages 37 to 38 contains more detailed
information on the Committee’s role and
the Directors’ remuneration and fees.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been chaired
by Charles Swingland since 23 October 2018;
prior to this it was chaired by Professor Sir
John Bell from the Company’s admission to
AIM until his resignation on 23 October 2018.
Its other members are Mary Hardy and Sir
Bruce Keogh. The Nomination Committee is
responsible for leading the process for Board
appointments and making recommendations
to the Board to implement a formal and
transparent procedure for the appointment
of new Directors to the Board, and assisting
with the Board’s annual evaluation process.
The Nomination Committee Report on page 36
contains more detailed information on the
Committee’s activity during the period.

Disclosure Committee

The Disclosure Committee is chaired by Lord
Drayson. Its other members are Lorimer
Headley and Charles Swingland. The
Committee ensures that the Company makes
timely and accurate disclosure of all
information that is required to be disclosed to
meet its legal and regulatory obligations as
an AIM company. The Disclosure Committee
is not a requirement of the UK Corporate
Governance Code but is considered best
practice by the Company, and it will meet as
frequently as is necessary or appropriate to
fulfil its responsibilities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate governance report continued

Leadership continued
Attendance

The Board intends to hold a minimum of six meetings per year; five were held in the period
to 30 April 2019 due to formation of the Board part way through the financial year. Directors
are expected to attend all meetings of the Board and the Committees on which they sit, and
to devote sufficient time to the Group’s affairs to enable them to fulfil their duties as Directors.
In the event that Directors are unable to attend a meeting, their comments on papers to be
considered at the meeting are discussed in advance with the Chairman so that their contribution
can be included in the wider Board discussion. The following table shows Directors’ attendance
at scheduled Board and Committee meetings during the year:
Board

Audit and Risk
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Nomination
Committee

Professor Sir John Bell*

2/2

—

—

—

Lord Drayson

5/5

—

—

—

Lorimer Headley

5/5

—

—

—

Andrew Gilbert

5/5

—

2/2

—

Dr Vishal Gulati

5/5

1/2

2/2

—

Mary Hardy

5/5

2/2

—

3/3

Dr Annalisa Jenkins

4/5

2/2

2/2

—

Sir Bruce Keogh**

3/5

—

—

2/3

Charles Swingland

5/5

—

—

3/3

Professor Lionel Tarassenko

5/5

—

—

—

Director

* Professor Sir John Bell stood down as Chairman on 23 October 2018.
** Sir Bruce Keogh was unable to attend on two occasions due to medical reasons.

Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate
insurance cover in respect of legal action
against its Directors.

Division of responsibilities

There is a clear division of responsibilities at
the head of the Company to ensure that there
is a balance of power and authority between
leadership of the Board and executive leadership.
The Chairman is responsible for leadership
of the Board and ensuring its effectiveness
on all aspects of its role. The CEO is responsible
for delivering the strategy and commercial
objectives agreed by the Board. The roles
of the Chairman and CEO are not exercised
by the same individual and the responsibilities
of those roles are documented in writing
and approved by the Board.
The CEO and the CFO, supported by an
Executive Committee, are responsible for the
day-to-day management of the Company’s
operational activities, and for the proper
execution of strategy, as set by the Board.

The Chairman and
Non-Executive Directors

The Chairman promotes a culture of
openness and debate by facilitating the
effective contribution of Non-Executive
Directors, as well as maintaining good
working relationships between all Directors,
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with Non-Executive Directors communicating
directly with Executive Directors and senior
management between formal Board meetings.
Professor Sir John Bell was appointed as
Chairman prior to Admission of the Company
to AIM. The Board did not consider him to be
independent on his appointment due to his
membership of the board of OUH NHS
Foundation Trust. At the time the Directors
determined that Professor Sir John Bell’s
appointment as Chairman was in the best
interests of the Company and its shareholders
as a whole as he is a highly respected
scientist who has helped found a number
of companies, has significant public company
experience including membership of the
board of Roche and is the author of the
UK’s Life Sciences Industrial Strategy.
On 23 October 2018 Professor Sir John Bell
stood down as Chairman in order to avoid
any potential conflicts of interest that may
arise from his position as adviser to the
UK Government.
Charles Swingland was appointed as Interim
Chairman to replace Professor Sir John Bell.
Charles Swingland is not considered to be
independent due to his previous business
relationships with the Group and CEO.
The Company has therefore not complied
with provision A.3.1 of the Code requiring
an independent Chairman.

Andrew Gilbert is the Senior Independent
Director (SID). He provides a sounding board
for the Chairman and serves as an intermediary
for the other Directors when necessary. As
the SID, Andrew is available to shareholders
if they have concerns over an issue that the
normal channels of communication (through
the Chairman, the CEO or the CFO) have
failed to resolve or where those channels
are not appropriate.

Effectiveness
Composition of the Board

The skills and experience of the Board are
included in the Directors’ biographical details
on pages 28 to 29 above.
The Board comprises nine Directors, two of
whom are Executive Directors and seven of
whom are Non-Executive Directors. For the
purposes of the Code, the Board regards
Dr Annalisa Jenkins, Mary Hardy, Andrew
Gilbert, Dr Vishal Gulati and Sir Bruce Keogh
as independent Non-Executive Directors;
therefore the Board satisfies the requirement
of the Code of having a balanced Board and
exceeds the requirement that at least half of
the Directors, excluding the Chairman, are
independent. Professor Lionel Tarassenko
is not considered independent as he is
employed by the Group as Director of R&D,
and is an employee of the University of
Oxford which has a material business
relationship with the Group.

Diversity

Sensyne Health recognises the importance
of a diverse workforce and Board. The Board
considers appointments based on merit and
against objective criteria and with due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board, including
gender, age, educational and professional
background. The Company’s diversity policy
promotes principles of equality and diversity
in all its dealings with employees and protects
employees against unlawful discrimination.
At 30 April 2019 the Board had two female
Directors representing 22% of the composition
of the Board.

Appointments to the Board

The Nomination Committee leads the
process for the appointment of new Directors
to the Board. Page 36 sets out more detailed
information on the Nomination Committee,
its role and principal activities during the
financial year.

The time commitment required from
each Director is set out in his/her letter
of appointment. The Nomination Committee
is responsible for considering annually whether
each Director is able to devote sufficient time
to their duties.
The Board, advised by the Nomination
Committee, is satisfied that the Chairman
and each of the Non-Executive Directors
are able to devote sufficient time to the
Group’s business.
In the appropriate circumstances, the
Board, acting on advice from the Nomination
Committee, may authorise Executive Directors
to take Non-Executive positions in other
companies and organisations, provided the
time commitment does not conflict with the
Director’s duties to the Company, since such
appointments should broaden their experience.
The acceptance of appointment to such
positions is subject to the approval of the
Remuneration Committee. Currently, Lord
Drayson serves as a Non-Executive Director
of Airbus SE, a position he held prior to
admission; Lorimer Headley does not hold
any outside appointments.

Development

On joining the Board, new Directors receive
a comprehensive induction. New members
are also introduced to senior employees and,
as appropriate, external advisers.
The Company Secretary ensures that all
Directors are kept abreast of changes in
relevant legislation and regulations, with the
assistance of the Company’s other
professional advisers where appropriate.
Non-Executive Directors are encouraged to
raise any personal development or training
needs with the Chairman or through the
Board evaluation process.

Information and support

The Chairman, aided by the Company
Secretary, is responsible for ensuring that the
Directors receive accurate and timely information.
Board and Committee materials are compiled
and distributed to Directors in a timely manner
and in a form and quality to enable the
Directors to discharge their duties. The CEO
and CFO provide reports to the Board, and
other members of the Executive Committee
prepare reports to the Board and may be
invited to attend Board meetings to present
on their activities.

Directors have access to independent
professional advice at the Company’s
expense. The Company Secretary is
responsible for advising the Board on
corporate governance matters.

Evaluation

As the current Board was only established
shortly prior to admission, and has been in
operation for less than a year, there has not
yet been a formal performance evaluation
process. The Board intends to undertake an
internal formal evaluation process during the
financial year ended 30 April 2020, as well as
a review of the Chairman led by the Senior
Independent Director.

Election of Directors

In accordance with the Company’s Articles
of Association and the Code, all the Directors
will be submitted for re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company to be held
on 30 October 2019.

Accountability
Risk management
and internal controls

The Board has ultimate responsibility for
the Group’s system of internal control and
for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board, in
conjunction with the Audit and Risk Committee,
considers and carries out a robust assessment
of the principal risks facing the Group including
those which would threaten its business
model, future performance, solvency or liquidity
and to review how these risks are being
managed together with any mitigating actions.
The principal risks facing the business are set
out on page 18. However well the system is
designed to manage risk, it cannot eliminate
all risk and therefore it provides reasonable,
not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Board, on the
advice of the Audit and Risk Committee,
considers that the internal controls in place
are appropriate for the size, complexity and
risk profile of the Group.
The principal elements of the Group’s internal
control system include:
• close management of the day-to-day activities
of the Group by the Executive Directors;
• an organisational structure with defined
levels of responsibility, which promotes
entrepreneurial decision making and rapid
implementation whilst minimising risks;
• a comprehensive annual budgeting
process, producing a detailed profit
and loss, balance sheet and cash flow,
which is approved by the Board;
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Commitment

• detailed monthly reporting
of performance; and
• central control over key areas such as
capital expenditure authorisation and
banking facilities.
The Group continues to review its system
of internal control to ensure compliance with
best practice and Code guidance, whilst also
having regard to its size and the resources
available. The Group has an established
Quality Assurance and Regulatory Affairs
(QARA) department which monitors compliance
with relevant standards and certification and
undertakes reviews of internal processes.
Taking into account the current nature of
operations and the experience and skill of the
management team, the Board, on the advice
of the Audit and Risk Committee, considers
that the introduction of an internal audit
function is currently not appropriate. This
position is reviewed regularly as the business
continues to grow.

Remuneration

The Company’s remuneration policy is set
out in the Remuneration Committee Report.
The Board believes the policy is sufficient to
attract, retain, and motivate Directors of the
quality required to run the Group successfully.

Relations with shareholders
Dialogue with shareholders

Meetings with major shareholders were held
by the CEO and CFO following the publication
of our half-year results in January and on an
ad hoc basis as appropriate. The CEO and
CFO intend to hold further meetings with
major shareholders following the publication
of our full-year results in this Annual Report.
The whole Board is briefed on the outcome
of these meetings. Furthermore, the Group
communicates to all shareholders through
our interim and full-year results, all of which
are available on our website alongside our
analyst results presentation slides.
The Chairman and Senior Independent
Director are contactable at the Company’s
registered office. The AGM is a key opportunity
for the Board to engage with shareholders.

Annual general meeting

The annual general meeting of the Company
will take place on 30 October 2019. The Notice
of Annual General Meeting and the ordinary
and special resolutions to be put to the meeting
have been published on our website.
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Audit and Risk Committee report

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the Board I am pleased to
present the Audit and Risk Committee
Report for the period ended 30 April 2019.

Responsibilities

Mary Hardy
Audit and Risk Committee Chair

The main duties of the Audit and Risk
Committee are set out in its terms of
reference, which are available on the
Company’s website (www.sensynehealth.com)
and are available on request from the
Company Secretary. The Committee reports
to the Board on its activities, identifying any
key issues and recommendations as to the
steps to be taken to address them.

Membership

The names of the members of the Audit and
Risk Committee and their dates of
appointment are set out in the table below:
Director

Date of appointment

Mary Hardy (Chair)

10 August 2018

Dr Vishal Gulati

10 August 2018

Dr Annalisa Jenkins 10 August 2018

date, and prior to the issue of this Report,
the Committee has met on a further two
occasions. It will meet at least three times
annually going forward in accordance with
its terms of reference.
All the members of the Committee are
Independent Non-Executive Directors.
My relevant financial experience of, and
the background and qualifications of all
Committee members, can be found in the
Board of Directors section on pages 28 and 29.
The Board is satisfied that I have recent and
relevant financial experience, and that the
Audit and Risk Committee as a whole
has relevant sector experience.
The Company Secretary acts as the
secretary to the Committee. The CFO, Vice
President of Quality Assurance and
Regulatory Affairs, and external auditors
attend the meetings at the invitation of the
Chair. The Chair of the Committee meets with
the external auditors at least once a year in
the absence of management.
A review of the Committee’s effectiveness will
be first undertaken in the year to 30 April 2020,
as the Committee was only formed part way
through the current financial year.

Due to its formation part way through the
financial year, the Committee only met twice
during the year to 30 April 2019. After that

Matter

Committee’s review and conclusions

Accounting and financial reporting matters
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Going concern
and longer-term
viability statement

The Committee reviewed the assumptions underlying both the
going concern and longer-term viability statements made on
pages 61 and 21 respectively. The assessment was based upon
the Group’s budget and two-year financial and operating plans
and risk assessment and included appropriate scenario analysis.
The Committee continued to be satisfied that, in respect of the
longer-term viability statement, a period of two years was suitable
and concurred with management’s conclusions that the viability
statement is appropriate.

Fair, balanced
and
understandable

In ensuring that the Group’s reporting is fair, balanced and
understandable, the Committee reviewed the classification of
items between adjusted and reported performance measures.

Accounting for
Group restructure

The Committee reviewed the accounting for the Group restructure
ahead of the IPO, as well as the advice from external experts. The
Committee was satisfied that the accounting treatment was applied
appropriately in accordance with IFRS 3 “Business Combinations.”

In addition, the Committee gave due consideration to the integrity
and sufficiency of information disclosed in the Annual Report and
Accounts to ensure that they clearly explain the Group’s financial
position, performance, business model and strategy. An assessment
of the narrative reporting was also undertaken to ensure consistency
with the financial reporting section, including appropriate disclosure
of material one-off items and appropriate balance of reported and
adjusted performance measures.

During the period to 30 April 2019, and up
to the date of this Report, the Committee
reviewed the Interim Report and Accounts
for the period ended 31 October 2018 and
the final results announcement and Annual
Report and Accounts for the year ended
30 April 2019.
The matters of significance considered by
the Committee and how they have been
addressed are set out opposite.
In relation to both the Interim and Annual
Reports the Committee reviewed reports
from management and the external auditors
and discussed key matters including the
appropriateness and consistent application
of accounting policies; their compliance
with applicable accounting standards and
statutory and listing requirements (including
the implications of changes to standards);
critical areas of accounting judgement and
estimation made in the preparation of the
Financial Statements; contingent liabilities;
and the adequacy and clarity of reporting
disclosures and compliance with applicable
financial and other reporting requirements.

Role of external auditor

The Committee has primary responsibility
for making a recommendation to the Board
on the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of the external auditor.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC)
has been engaged to express its opinion
on the Group’s Financial Statements.
The external auditor prepares an audit plan
for its auditor of the full-year Financial
Statements which sets out the scope of the
audit, areas of significant risk of material
misstatement and audit timetable. This plan
is reviewed and agreed in advance by the
Audit and Risk Committee. Following its
review, the auditor presents its findings to the
Audit and Risk Committee for discussion.
Areas of significant risk and other matters of
audit relevance are regularly communicated
to the Committee during the audit process.
No major areas of concern were highlighted
by the auditor during the current financial year.
• Effectiveness
	The Committee intends to review
the effectiveness of the external audit
process and auditor following the completion
of reporting on the year to 30 April 2019,
which is the initial annual audit of the
Group as a listed entity.

• Independence
	The Committee has policies in place
that safeguard the independence of
the external auditor, which includes
the auditor independence requirements
and the policy on the provision of
non-audit services, and the conduct
of the relationship between the
Committee and the auditor.
In relation to the provision of non-audit services,
the auditor is precluded from engaging
in services that would compromise its
independence or violate any professional
requirements or regulations affecting its
appointment as auditor, and the Committee
also specifically excludes the provision of
taxation, advisory or compliance services.
Any non-audit services proposed to be
provided by the auditor require justification
as to why such appointment is in the best
interests of the Company and how
independence would be safeguarded and,
above a certain de minimis fee level, require
approval by the Committee. The ratio of fees
for audit services to non-audit services for
2019 was 1:4.6. The breakdown of the
external auditor’s fees between audit and
non-audit services, as approved by the
Committee is provided in Note 4 of the Group’s
Financial Statements. Services were provided
during the year in connection with the IPO
and restructuring of the Group prior to IPO.
The Committee considers that the use of
PwC was appropriate based on their knowledge
and understanding of the business, and their
independence was not compromised. No
non-audit services have been received from
PwC since the Group has been a listed entity.
PwC confirms its independence to the Committee
annually in the form of a letter. It also has in
place a system for monitoring compliance
with their audit partner rotation policy. Mark
Jordan, the current audit partner, is due for
rotation following the completion of the audit
for the year ended 30 April 2020, following
his initial appointment to audit the DTL group
for the year ended 30 April 2016.
Having reviewed the auditor’s independence,
the Audit and Risk Committee has
recommended to the Board that a resolution
to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
as the Group’s auditor be proposed at the
2019 AGM.

Internal audit

The Group has an internal audit function for
its Quality Assurance and Regulatory Affairs
(QARA) environment, the scope of which
includes governance, compliance, regulatory
and financial controls. No internal audit
function is in place outside of the QARA
environment. However, given the scale of the
operations of the business, the Committee
considers that it is not currently appropriate
to have an expanded internal audit function
beyond the QARA requirement as
management is able to derive assurance
as to the adequacy and effectiveness of
internal controls and risk management
procedures without such an expanded
function. This decision will be kept under
review. The Committee receives reports from
the QARA team at each meeting.

Whistleblowing

A confidential whistleblowing procedure is
in place to enable employees to report any
concerns they have regarding financial or
other matters. Employees can raise concerns
with their manager, senior staff members
or directly to the Committee Chair. The
Committee monitors the Group’s Whistleblowing
policy on behalf of the Board. During the
period, there were no incidents for consideration
before the last confirmation sentence. The
Committee is satisfied that the policy
adequately allows for independent
investigation of any disclosures.

Risk management and
internal control

As described on page 33 in the Corporate
Governance Report, the Group has
established a framework of risk management
and internal control systems, policies and
procedures. With respect to its oversight of
risk management and internal controls, the
Committee reviewed and discussed matters
with management and the external auditor as
appropriate including the processes for the
identification, management and monitoring of
principal risks. The Committee considers the
current framework to be sufficient for the
current nature of the business’ operations.

Mary Hardy

Audit and Risk Committee Chair
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Nomination Committee report

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to
present the Company’s initial Nomination
Committee Report for the period to
30 April 2019.

Members of the Nomination
Committee

Charles Swingland
Non-Executive Chairman

On formation the Committee was comprised
of Professor Sir John Bell as Chair, and
Mary Hardy and Sir Bruce Keogh. Following
Professor Sir John Bell’s departure from the
Board on 23 October 2018, I was appointed to
the Committee and as Chair. All the members
during the period were independent apart
from Professor Sir John Bell and myself.
Although only members of the Committee
have the right to attend meetings, other
individuals, such as external advisers and
the Chief Executive Officer, may be invited
to attend for all or part of any meeting.
The Company Secretary acts as secretary
to the Committee and attends
Committee meetings.

Duties

The main duties of the Committee are
set out in its terms of reference, which are
available on the Company’s website
(www.sensynehealth.com), or available
from the Company Secretary on request.
These include:
• to regularly review the structure, size
and composition of the Board to ensure
it has an appropriate balance of skills,
experience, independence, knowledge
and diversity, and make recommendations
to the Board with regard to any changes;
• to keep the leadership needs, at Board
level, of the Company under review
(both Executive and Non-Executive) with
a view to ensuring the continued ability
of the Company to compete effectively
in the market; and

36

Sensyne Health plc
Annual Report 2019

• to give full consideration to succession
planning for Directors and other Senior
Executives in the course of its work,
taking into account the challenges and
opportunities facing the Company, and
the skills and expertise needed on the
Board in the future.

Principal activities during the year
The Nomination Committee met formally
three times during the period.

Professor Lionel Tarassenko was appointed
to the Board as a Non-Executive Director on
2 October 2018. He had undertaken advisory
work for the Company during the previous
year, and it was considered by the Board that
his experience and relationships with the
University of Oxford would be beneficial to
the Company. His appointment was proposed
directly to the Board following discussions
between Professor Sir John Bell, the Chairman
at the time of the appointment, the current
Chairman and CEO. An external search
consultancy was not used in his appointment,
nor an open advertisement placed due to the
circumstances outlined above.

Induction of new Directors

Prior to our IPO all the Directors took part
in a formal induction programme tailored to
their knowledge and experience. Following
his appointment Lionel Tarassenko also took
part in a tailored formal induction programme.

Plans for 2020

Following our initial period as a listed company
the Committee intends to focus in the year to
30 April 2020 on applying the 2018 Corporate
Governance Code and further developing the
Board’s policy on diversity and gender.

Charles Swingland
Nomination Committee Chair
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Remuneration Committee report

Annual statement
Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to
present our first Directors’ Remuneration
Report since listing for the period ended
30 April 2019.
The Committee was formed on 10 August 2018
in preparation for the Company’s IPO and
admission to trading on AIM on 17 August 2018.

Andrew Gilbert
Remuneration Committee Chair

Approach to remuneration

On formation of the Remuneration
Committee it was recognised that Sensyne
Health is a company with an ambition to be a
global leader in Clinical AI. As such we need
to be able to attract, retain and motivate the
brightest, most innovative and productive
team in a highly competitive market. The
Remuneration Committee recognises that
this starts with the most senior employees.
As such the Committee made a clear
commitment to ensure that the compensation
packages reflected this corporate and clinical
ambition and equipped us to compete for
talent with some of the most significant
companies worldwide.
This is achieved through a combination of
excellent third party compensation expertise,
a thorough understanding of the market
environment and recognition of unique talent
when seen. We seek ongoing support from
our shareholders to ensure that we remain
able to build one of the most exciting companies
in the UK, challenging to be a global success.
The third party used was FIT Remuneration
Consultants LLP and included detailed data
and analysis of a basket of companies plus
feedback from leaders in the executive
search field on market conditions for hiring
senior executives (this information was
provided via the Nomination Committee).

2019 annual bonus

When the Committee was formed there was
little time to ensure a fully validated Executive
compensation program. It was agreed that
the CEO and CFO (the two Executives who
fall within the remit of the Committee) operate
a standstill position with regard to their
maximum remuneration, dating back to their
previous positions at Drayson Technologies
Group Limited. This aided a smooth and
quick public offering and we are grateful to
them for their support of this initial transition.

At the time it was agreed that a formal
assessment of Executive remuneration
would take place and any appropriate
changes would be made.
During this process and working with an
independent and well-respected compensation
consultant, it became immediately clear that
the Company was vulnerable to competitive
offers to our key Executives and the Committee
set about trying to ensure that these Executives
were suitably protected and motivated to
achieve success at Sensyne Health. This is
discussed in more detail in the section on
2020 compensation.
It was also clear that the IPO had proved to
be a significant success against a challenging
backdrop and the company and shareholders
had significantly benefited from capital raised
and the strength of being a UK public company
with approximately 10% of its shares held by
the NHS. In addition, the issues associated with
running a public company are a substantially
higher burden requiring a complex set of skills,
than a small private company. Both the CEO
and CFO executed the IPO and transition to
public company flawlessly and were still able
to make excellent progress against the stated
corporate goals.
After the end of the 2019 financial year the
committee reviewed the performance of the
CEO and awarded a bonus award of £150,000
(43% of base salary), which was 100% of the
maximum contractual bonus, to the CEO,
after having considered the performance
of the Company against its corporate targets
for the year. Further details are provided in
the Annual Report on Remuneration below.
No bonus scheme was in place for the CFO
although, as mentioned below, he will participate
in the 2020 scheme.
In light of the mismatch between achievement,
expertise and compensation and potential
short term vulnerability to competitors, the
Company Chairman proposed in December
2018 that the CEO and CFO receive a one-off
bonus award for the success post IPO. This
was viewed as in line with similar companies’
practice and an award of £850,000 to the
CEO and £200,000 to the CFO was proposed
by the Chair, supported by the Remuneration
Committee and approved by the Board.
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Remuneration Committee report continued

2019 annual bonus continued

The Remuneration Committee viewed
this award in the context of overall annual
compensation and found it to bring the
executives nearer to the third party verified
market rate and recognition of the unique
skills and value to the Company. For further
information see the table on page 43.

Directors’ remuneration for 2020

As mentioned above, at the time of IPO,
the Remuneration Committee put in place
remuneration packages for Executive
Directors which comprised a base salary,
benefits, a contribution towards pension,
a bonus scheme (in which only the CEO
participated) and awards under the
Company’s share option scheme. The option
awards were granted at the time of IPO and
vest over a three-year period, subject to a
relative total shareholder return measure
and continued employment.
The market for senior executive talent in the
Artificial Intelligence industry continues to be
very competitive, the talent pools are highly
international and dominated by large companies
with significant resources. Many of these
companies are private and the reward offered
has a bias towards cash over shares and
annual incentives over long-term pay.
For Sensyne Health to be successful it is
essential that it is able to attract and retain
top calibre professionals. Setting appropriate
packages for the Directors helps to ensure
that there is an appropriate and fair cascade
of pay down the Company.
Following our listing on AIM the Committee
appointed FIT Remuneration Consultants
LLP to conduct a review of the remuneration
provided to the Executive Directors and
advise the Committee on potential changes.
The Committee considered the outcomes of
the review and determined that the broad
structure of Directors’ packages remains
appropriate but that certain changes should
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be made to reward and incentivise senior
management. These are:
• The annual salaries for the CEO and CFO
will be set at £500,000 and £250,000
respectively (from £350,000 and
£200,000 at the time of listing).
• Pension shall remain unchanged and
is aligned with the pension offered to
the workforce.
• A bonus scheme will be introduced with
a 200% of salary opportunity for the CEO
and 100% of salary for the CFO.
• Performance share awards will be made
to the CFO and select senior management
(but not the CEO) under a new Long Term
Incentive Plan (LTIP). Awards will vest after
three years subject to continued employment
and achieving a total shareholder return
based performance. A two-year holding
period will apply.

Basis of preparation of this report

As an AIM company, Sensyne Health is not
required to prepare a Directors’ Remuneration
Report in accordance with the Large and
Medium-sized Companies and Groups
(Accounts and Reports) (Amendment)
Regulations 2013. In accordance with AIM
Rule 26, Sensyne Health has adopted the UK
Corporate Governance Code (April 2016).
Our statement of compliance with the principles
of the UK CGC is available on the Company’s
website, as required by AIM Rule 26.
The Board is committed to maintaining high
corporate governance standards and in preparing
this Report, the Committee has taken into
account the principles of the UK CGC.
Over the course of the year to 30 April 2020
the Committee will implement the provisions
contained within the revised July 2018 UK
Corporate Governance Code and seek to
report on these in next year’s Report.

• The share option scheme introduced at
IPO will be retained enabling the Company
to make awards on recruitment, but it is
not anticipated that further awards will be
made to the current Directors at this time.
While awards under this scheme vest six
monthly over three years, no options can
be exercised until the third anniversary.
The six-monthly vesting profile was felt
necessary to attract tech talent who
tend to be motivated by shorter vesting
timeframes that are on offer in private
companies. The scheme also provides
retention incentive and alignment with
the share price.

The Committee operates within its terms of
reference which are reviewed from time to
time by the Board and are available on the
Company’s website.

A review of the CEO’s package was felt
necessary given he will not participate in the
LTIP due to his current shareholding level. It
is important to note that total remuneration
must not be conflated with shareholding due
to prior risk capital investment. Only the CFO
and selected senior management will receive
nominal cost options under the LTIP scheme.

I would like to thank our shareholders for their
support during the year. We believe that our
Directors’ remuneration policy is aligned with
the achievement of the Group’s business
objectives. I will be available at the Company’s
annual general meeting to answer any
questions on this Report.

The changes outlined above have been
arrived based on a benchmarking exercise
comparing Sensyne Health’s remuneration
against competitor technology companies
and companies of a comparable size.

Andrew Gilbert

Annual general meeting

As a company listed on AIM the Company is
not required to have a shareholder-approved
Directors’ remuneration policy. However, as
the Committee and Board are committed
to achieving high standards of corporate
governance, integrity and business ethics,
the Committee has decided to hold an advisory
vote on the Directors’ Remuneration Report
at the AGM on 30 October 2019.

Remuneration Committee Chair

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Directors’ remuneration policy

Our initial remuneration policy, which was set out in our admission document and applied from the date of admission, is presented below.
This has been updated since our admission to include provision for bonus payments in line with the 2020 remuneration proposals.
The Company’s remuneration policy is designed to provide a framework to:
• attract, motivate and retain executives and senior management to deliver the Company’s strategic, business development and growth goals;
• incentivise strong financial performance and reward the delivery of the Company’s business plan;
• align the interests of Executives and senior management with the interests of shareholders; and
• adhere to principles of good corporate governance.
The main elements of the remuneration policy of the Executive Directors are set out below:
Base salary

Salaries are reviewed annually and are set at a level considered appropriate for the size and nature of the
business, taking into account individual performance, and pay and conditions of the wider workforce.

Pension contribution

Directors will be assessed for eligibility to participate in the Company’s Group personal pension plan under
the terms of auto enrolment.

Benefits in kind

Directors will receive market competitive benefits, including (but not limited to) private medical insurance.

Share option schemes

Executive Directors may participate, at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee, in the equity
incentive arrangements established and operated by the Company.

Bonus

Executive Directors may be eligible for an annual and/or occasional special bonus payment based on
performance as set out by the Remuneration Committee.

The Committee intends to implement a Long Term Incentive Plan for the year ended 30 April 2020. Under this scheme nominal value options
with a face value of 100% of salary will be granted to selected senior management. The CEO will not participate in the scheme. These awards
will vest after three years subject to continued employment and achieving a total shareholder return based performance. A two-year holding
period will apply from the earlier of the third anniversary of the relevant award date or the date on which the award holder acquires the shares.
Malus and clawback conditions are attached to the awards which allow the Company to reduce any unvested awards, reduce future salary
of the participant or require repayment of the value of any benefit received under the award for up to a three-year period following the vesting
or third anniversary of the award.

Approach to recruitment remuneration

Remuneration packages for new Executive Directors are determined by the Remuneration Committee and designed in accordance with the
approved remuneration policy.

Loss of office payment policy

Any compensation payment made to an Executive Director for termination of employment will be determined with reference to the terms of the
individual’s service agreement and the rules of any incentive plan in which the individual is a participant. Malus and clawback arrangements are
contained within Directors’ service agreements and incentive plans.

Remuneration policy for Non-Executive Directors

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for evaluating and making recommendations to the Board on fees payable to the Chairman.
The Chairman does not participate in discussions in respect of fees. The Chairman and CEO are responsible for evaluating and making
recommendations to the Board on the fees payable to the Company’s Non-Executive Directors.
The fees received by the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors are intended to enable the Company to attract and retain individuals with the
requisite experience and knowledge for the role. There is no formal maximum. However, fees are reviewed annually against fees from similar
groups to ensure they remain competitive and representative of the time commitment needed for the role.
The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors also receive travel and subsistence costs that are incurred in the normal course of business.
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Directors’ remuneration policy continued

Service contracts

Each Executive Director has a service contract with the Company which is terminable by either party on not more than nine months’ notice.
Non-Executive Directors, including the Chairman, were appointed under letters of appointment for an initial term from admission until the
conclusion of the Company’s initial annual general meeting. Either the Company or the Non-Executive Director may terminate the appointment
before the end of the current term on one month’s notice.
All Directors are subject to annual re-election.
Copies of the current Directors’ service contracts and letters of appointment are available for inspection at the Company’s registered office.
Notice period in months
Date of contract/appointment

Executive Directors

Company

Director

Lord Drayson

20 June 2018*

9

9

Lorimer Headley

20 June 2018**

3

3

Non-Executive Directors
Charles Swingland

10 August 2018

1

1

Andrew Gilbert

10 August 2018

1

1

Dr Vishal Gulati

10 August 2018

1

1

Mary Hardy

10 August 2018

1

1

Dr Annalisa Jenkins

10 August 2018

1

1

Sir Bruce Keogh

10 August 2018

1

1

Prof Lionel Tarassenko

2 October 2018

1

1

*

Lord Drayson has been continuously employed by the Group since 10 May 2010.

**

Lorimer Headley has been continuously employed by the Group since 1 February 2016.

The Board believes that it may be beneficial to the Group for Executives to hold non-executive directorships outside the Group. Any such
appointments are subject to approval by the Board and the Director may retain any fees received. Lord Drayson received fees of £137,000 for
being on the board of Airbus SE during the period from IPO until 30 April 2019.

Statement of consideration of employees’ pay and remuneration conditions elsewhere in the Group

The Company does not formally consult with employees on the matters of Executive Director remuneration. However, the Committee is made
aware of employment conditions in the wider Group.
The same broad principles apply to the remuneration policy for both Executive Directors and the wider employee population. However, the
remuneration for Executive Directors has a stronger emphasis on performance-related pay than for other employees of the Group. In particular
the following approach is used:
• Salaries, benefits and pensions are compared to appropriate market rates and set with an allowance for role, responsibilities and experience.
• When setting salary levels for the Executive Directors, the Committee considers the salary increases provided to other employees.
• An annual bonus plan applies to the wider employee population and is based on business and individual performance.
• The share option scheme applies to the wider employee population.
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Scenarios for future total remuneration

The charts below provide illustrations of the future total remuneration for each of the Executive Directors for the year ended 30 April 2020 for
“fixed”, “expected”, and “maximum” scenarios.
The underlying assumptions used are:
• The fixed scenarios show the fixed level of remuneration, excluding any performance-related pay. Benefits are included at FY19 levels, and
pension contributions assumed at 5% of base salary.
• Expected scenarios illustrate pay if business performance is in line with expectations, with 50% of annual bonus awarded and 50% of LTIP awards.
• Maximum scenarios assume a bonus payable at the maximum level, and LTIP awards vest in full.

CEO £’000

1,800
1,600

800

1,400
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1,200

600

1,000

500
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300

400

200

200

100

0

Fixed
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CFO £’000

900
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Long-term variable remuneration

0

Fixed
Annual bonus

Expected

Maximum

Fixed

Statement of consideration of shareholders’ views

The Remuneration Committee will consider any shareholder feedback received at the AGM and at meetings throughout the year, when
reviewing the overall remuneration policy each year.
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Annual report on remuneration

Role of the Remuneration Committee
The Committee’s responsibilities include:

• recommending the Company’s Executive Director remuneration policy to the Board;
• determining the entire remuneration package for each Executive Director, the Chairman and the Company Secretary as well as members
of key management;
• recommending and monitoring the level and structure of remuneration for each senior manager; and
• operating the Company’s equity incentive plans.
The Company Chairman and Executive Directors are responsible for determining the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors. No Director
is involved in any decisions regarding his/her own remuneration or present at any meeting of the Remuneration Committee when his/her
remuneration is discussed.

Remuneration Committee members

The members of the Committee during the year and their dates of appointment were:
Member

Date appointed

Andrew Gilbert – Chair

10 August 2018

Dr Vishal Gulati

10 August 2018

Dr Annalisa Jenkins

10 August 2018

Andrew Gilbert, Dr Vishal Gulati and Dr Annalisa Jenkins are all considered independent by the Board. There have been no changes to
the membership of the Committee up to the date of this Report. The terms of reference of the Committee appear on the Company’s website.
The Committee is in the process of updating the terms of reference to align them with the provisions of the revised 2018 Corporate Governance
Code. Due to the Company’s listing part way through the financial year the Committee has only met twice in the year ended 30 April 2019.
Going forward the Committee plans to meet at least twice in the year ended 30 April 2020.
The Chief Executive Officer attends as appropriate but may not participate in discussions about his own remuneration. The Company secretary
acts as Secretary to the Committee and attends Committee meetings.

External advisers

The Company has appointed external remuneration advisers, FIT Remuneration Consultants LLP (FIT). FIT attends meetings of the Committee
by invitation. The Committee is satisfied that the advice from FIT is independent as it does not provide any other services to the Company or
Group and is a signatory to the Remuneration Consultants’ Group’s Code of Conduct. FIT’s fees are agreed by the Remuneration Committee
according to the work performed, and amount to £26,238 for advice received during the year ended 30 April 2019. The terms of engagement
are available on request from the Company Secretary. FIT’s work relating to Executive remuneration during the year ended 30 April 2019 included:
making recommendations to ensure that the remuneration of the Executive Directors and key management remained in line with those of
competitor technology companies and companies of comparable size.

Activities

A summary of the matters considered by the Committee in the course of the year ended 30 April 2019 is as follows:
Meeting

Agenda items

November 2018

• discussion of Executive Directors’ remuneration structure;
• agree Company’s philosophy on Executive Director incentives; and
• agree an approach to development of the Executive Director remuneration policy.

March 2019

• discussion of the Company’s remuneration philosophy and policy;
• consider long-term incentive arrangements; and
• review of remuneration structures for Executive Directors.
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Audited information
Directors’ remuneration

The following table summarises the total remuneration of the Directors who served during the year ended 30 April 2019, in their capacity
as Directors of a listed company. Due to the listing part way through the year the remuneration figures below cover the period from IPO
on 17 August 2018 through to 30 April 2019, and therefore differ from the key terms outlined in the admission document. The Consolidated
Financial Statements are presented in accordance with IFRS and include the historic trading of the Drayson Technologies Limited Group which
the Company acquired prior to the IPO (see Note 1 and Note 18 of the Financial Statements for further details). In the period from 1 May 2018
to 16 August 2018, the Consolidated Financial Statements include remuneration of £237,000 for the CEO and £62,000 for the CFO in respect
of their previous employment by the Drayson Technologies Limited Group.
Compensation for
loss of office and
payments in lieu
Benefits in kind
of notice
£’000
£’000

Base salary i
£’000

Bonus ii
£’000

Contributions to
money purchase
schemes
£’000

Lord Drayson

250

1,000

12

18

—

1,280

Lorimer Headley

153

200

7

1

—

361

Charles Swingland*

45

—

—

—

—

45

Professor John Bell**

15

—

—

—

—

15

Andrew Gilbert

28

—

—

—

—

28

Executive Directors

Non-Executive Directors

Total
remuneration
£’000

Dr Vishal Gulati

24

—

—

—

—

24

Mary Hardy

28

—

—

—

—

28
24

Dr Annalisa Jenkins

24

—

—

—

—

Sir Bruce Keogh

24

—

—

—

—

24

Professor Lionel Tarassenko***

90

8

—

—

—

98

681

1,208

19

19

—

1,927

Total

*	Charles Swingland was appointed Non-Executive Chairman on 24 October 2018, prior to this he was a Non-Executive Director and Chair of the
Nomination Committee.
** Professor John Bell resigned as Chairman on 23 October 2018.
***	Professor Lionel Tarassenko serves as both a Non-Executive Director and is employed part-time by the Company in his role as Director of R&D, his total
remuneration above includes £78k for his services as an employee. Prior to becoming a Non-Executive Director and employee he was a contractor
for the Company and received £3k for his services in the period from IPO until his appointment as a Non-Executive Director.
i) £11k of Lorimer Headley’s base salary was unpaid at year end and was subsequently paid in May 2019.
ii)	£850k of Lord Drayson’s bonus, all of Lorimer Headley’s bonus and £5k of Professor Lionel Tarassenko’s bonus was payable under the Group’s discretionary
bonus arrangements for all employees and was awarded post successful completion of the IPO, benchmarked against comparable awards in comparable
circumstances. The remaining £150k of Lord Drayson’s bonus was awarded in relation to his contractual bonus conditions; this was paid in May 2019.
The contractual bonus was assessed against the five IPO aims of the Group, and it was considered by the Committee that strong progress had been made
against these. The remaining £3k of Professor Lionel Tarassenko’s bonus (in his role as Director of R&D) was payable under the Group’s discretionary bonus
arrangements awarded at year end to all staff and was paid in June 2019.

Share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme which is available to the wider employee population at the discretion of the Board. Options
are granted with an exercise price not less than the share price on the date of grant and can be exercised on the third anniversary of grant.
A holding period of two years applies to the shares following exercise. On every six-month anniversary from the grant date one sixth of the
granted options are assessed for vesting against market vesting conditions. This portion of options will vest, to be exercised on the third
anniversary of grant, if the Company’s share price has risen by at least 10% more than the FTSE All-Share Pharmaceutical and Biotechnology
Index over the period between the grant date and assessment date.
Awards have been made to the Executive Directors under the scheme as follows:
Date of grant

Share price
at grant

Number of
options awarded

Exercise price

Face value at
grant (’000)

Date from
which exercisable

Expiry date

Lord Drayson

17 August 2018

£1.75

1,285,715

£1.75

£2,250

17 August 2021

17 August 2028

Lorimer Headley

17 August 2018

£1.75

424,286

£1.75

£743

17 August 2021

17 August 2028

Director
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Annual report on remuneration continued

Audited information continued
Share option scheme continued

No options have lapsed in the year, and the first one sixth of options assessed for vesting on 17 February 2019 met the market vesting
conditions and are able to be exercised on 17 August 2021.
Additionally, Professor Lionel Tarassenko was awarded 1,285,715 options under the Company’s Contractor Option Scheme with a grant date of
17 August 2018, exercise price of £1.75, exercisable date of 17 August 2021 and expiry date of 17 August 2028.
No Directors have exercised share options in the year.
The market price of the Company’s Ordinary Shares at 30 April 2019 was £1.780 and the range during the year was £1.535 to £2.095.

Directors’ shareholdings

The Directors of the Company who served during the year, and who held an interest in the issued Ordinary Shares of the Company, were as follows:
Director

Ordinary Shares of £0.10 each at 30 April 2019

Professor John Bell

359,289

Lord Drayson*

19,881,162

Andrew Gilbert**

438,522

Lorimer Headley

942,313

Charles Swingland

647,456

*	In addition, Lord Drayson’s family (within the meaning set out in the AIM Rules for Companies) holds an additional 17,726,348 Ordinary Shares, representing
13.79% of the issued share capital of the Company.
**	In addition, Andrew Gilbert’s family (within the meaning set out in the AIM Rules for Companies) holds an additional 73,001 Ordinary Shares, representing 0.06%
of the issued share capital of the Company.

Payments to past Directors

There were no payments to past Directors and no payments of compensation for loss of office.

Unaudited information
Total shareholder return

The performance of the Company’s Ordinary Shares compared with the FTSE All-Share Pharmaceuticals and Biotechnology Index from its IPO on
17 August 2018 up until 30 April 2019 is shown in the graph below:
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Unaudited information continued
Total shareholder return continued

The Company has chosen the Index as its benchmark of share performance as it believes it gives shareholders a reasonable comparison with
the total shareholder return of other equity investments in companies in the same sector.

Historical CEO remuneration
30 April 2019

Total remuneration (£’000)

1,280

Bonus

100%

Expenditure on pay

The table below shows the total remuneration paid to employees of the Group and distributions to shareholders in the financial year:
30 April 2019
£’000

Total remuneration

7,889

Dividends and share buy back

Nil

Implementation of remuneration policy for the year ended 30 April 2020
Base salaries

The salaries to be paid to the Executive Directors for the year ended 30 April 2020 are set out in the table below. The Executive Directors’
salaries were reviewed on 31 May 2019 and were increased as shown below. The Increase was applied effective 1 May 2019 for Lord Drayson,
and 8 February 2019 for Lorimer Headley. FIT provided the Committee with advice on this process.
Annual base salary
30 April 2020
£’000

30 April 2019
£’000

Increase %

Lord Drayson

500

350

43%

Lorimer Headley

250

200

25%

Executive Directors

Annual bonus

As the Company is in a development phase it has been agreed by the Committee that the basis for determining annual bonus payments for the
year ended 30 April 2020 will be considered on a bi-annual or quarterly basis and will be reported on in the FY20 report. The FY20 bonus will
be considered against the five IPO aims of the Group as laid out below:
• sign additional Strategic Research Agreements and Data Processing Agreements with NHS Trusts;
• progress whole genome sequencing of patients admitted to the OUH NHS Foundation Trust;
• sign a major pharmaceutical discovery agreement for “Clinical AI Discovery”;
• sign a sales and marketing agreement with a major healthcare IT company to accelerate digital health product roll-out; and
• develop and commercialise new software products and deploy in the NHS.
In addition to the aforementioned criteria, performance will also be measured on the basis of progress of the corporate culture of Sensyne
Health and the individual’s contribution in such regard, especially respecting the significantly changing environment in which Sensyne Health
operates and the need to be assertively agile. This includes, but is not limited to, the flexible response to changing conditions, prediction and
response to key developments, maximising shareholder successful outcomes. Leadership of the employees, customers and market will be
essential and engagement with analysts, media and shareholders critical.

Long-term incentive scheme

The Committee intends to implement a Long-Term Incentive Plan for FY20. Under this scheme nominal value options with a face value of 100%
of salary will be granted to select senior management. The CEO will not participate in the scheme. These awards will vest after three years subject
to continued employment and achieving a total shareholder return based performance. A two-year holding period will apply from the earlier of
the third anniversary of the relevant award date or the date on which the award holder acquires the shares. Malus and clawback conditions are
attached to the awards which allow the Company to reduce any unvested awards, reduce future salary of the participant or require repayment
of the value of any benefit received under the award for up to a three-year period following the vesting or third anniversary of the award.
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Annual report on remuneration continued

Non-Executive Directors’ fees

The fees for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors have been increased by nil% effective 1 May 2019. The fees to be paid for the year
ended 30 April 2020 are set out in the table below:
Annual base fees
30 April 2020
£’000

Non-Executive Directors

30 April 2019
£’000

Increase/
(decrease) %

Charles Swingland

75

75

-%

Andrew Gilbert

40

40

-%

Dr Vishal Gulati

35

35

-%
-%

Mary Hardy

40

40

Dr Annalisa Jenkins

35

35

-%

Sir Bruce Keogh

35

35

-%

155

155

-%

Professor Lionel Tarassenko1

1 Professor Lionel Tarassenko receives £35k for his role as a Non-Executive Director, and £120k for his role as Director of R&D.

Non-Executive Directors receive £35,000 per annum plus £5,000 for each Committee chairmanship they hold.
The Directors’ Remuneration Report, including the Directors’ remuneration policy and Annual Report on Remuneration, were approved by the
Remuneration Committee and by the Board on 7 October 2019.

Andrew Gilbert

Remuneration Committee Chair
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Directors’ report

The Directors present their Report for the
period from incorporation on 20 June 2018
to 30 April 2019 together with the audited
Consolidated Financial Statements and the
Independent Auditors’ Report for the period
and year ended 30 April 2019.

Results and dividends

General information

The Directors do not recommend the
payment of a dividend for the year ended
30 April 2019 (2018: £nil).

Sensyne Health plc is a public company
limited by shares registered in England
and Wales (registered number 11425451)
and located at Schrödinger Building, Heatley
Road, Oxford Science Park, Oxford OX4
4GE. The Company’s Ordinary Shares were
admitted to trading on the AIM segment of
the London Stock Exchange on 17 August
2018. Its principal activity is that of a holding
and investment company for the Group.
The Group includes the Company as well
as the subsidiaries listed in Note 13 of the
Financial Statements. For the period from
1 May 2018 to 7 August 2018 the parent
company of the Group was Drayson
Technologies Limited. On 7 August 2018
a share for share exchange was undertaken
which resulted in the Company becoming
the parent company of the Group, further
details are contained in Notes 13 and 19.
The Group’s principal activity is developing
clinical AI technology.

Information included in the
strategic report

The Company’s Strategic Report is on pages
1 to 25 and contains the following information
that would otherwise be required to be
included in this Directors’ Report:
Future developments
Page 12
Research and development
Page 24
Principal risks and uncertainties
Page 18
Key performance indicators
Page 25
Corporate governance statement
Page 31

The Group results for the year and the
financial position as at 30 April 2019 are
shown in the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income and the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Political donations

The Company and Group made no political
donations during the year (2018: £nil).

Financial risk management

The financial risk management objectives
and policies of the Group, including credit
risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk are
provided in Note 17 of the accounts on page 76.

Share capital

Directors

The Directors of the Company who were in
office during the year and up to the date of
this Report are listed below. Their biographical
details are shown in the Board of
Directors section.
Director

Date of appointment

Professor Sir
John Bell

10 August 2018
(resigned
23 October 2018)

Lord Drayson

20 June 2018

Lorimer Headley

20 June 2018

Andrew Gilbert

10 August 2018

Dr Vishal Gulati

10 August 2018

Mary Hardy

10 August 2018

Dr Annalisa Jenkins 10 August 2018
Sir Bruce Keogh

10 August 2018

Charles Swingland

10 August 2018

Professor Lionel
Tarassenko

2 October 2018

The Company was incorporated on 20 June 2018,
issuing one Ordinary Share of £1. Following
incorporation and prior to IPO a share split,
share for share exchange and share issue were
undertaken. Full details of the movements in
issued share capital for the period are explained
in Note 19 on page 80. At 30 April 2019 there
were 128,571,514 Ordinary Shares of £0.10
each in issue.
The Company has only one class of shares
which carry no right to fixed income. Each
share carries the right to one vote at general
meetings of the Company. There are no
restrictions on voting rights. At IPO certain
existing shareholders signed agreements
requiring them to hold their securities for
either a one- or two-year period following the
Company’s admission to trading on AIM. There
are no other restrictions on the holding or
transfer of these securities.
Details of employee and contractor share
option schemes are set out in Note 22 on
page 82.

Directors’ interests

The Directors’ interests in the share capital
of the Company are set out in the
Remuneration Report.

Directors’ indemnity and liability
insurance

The Company has purchased and maintained
throughout the financial year, and up to the
date of this Report, directors’ and officers’
liability insurance in respect of itself and its
Directors. The Company has also granted
an indemnity to its Directors against any
liabilities that arise, which represents a
qualifying third-party indemnity provision
as defined by the Companies Act 2006.
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Directors’ report continued

Substantial shareholdings

The Company is aware that the following had an
interest of 3% or more of the issued Ordinary
Share capital of the Company at 30 April 2019,
and at 2 October 2019 the last practicable
date before the publication of this Report:

Going concern

The Directors have prepared the Consolidated
and Company Financial Statements on a going
concern basis. Further details can be found in
Note 1 on page 61.

Employment

The Group regularly provides employees with
information of concern to them, which
incorporates the Group’s current performance
and its future aims and strategies. The Group
has a HR portal to ensure all employees have
access to relevant policies and information.
Employees are also encouraged to provide
suggestions in areas that are important to them.

Disclosure of information to
auditors

Annual general meeting

The Directors who held office at the date of
approval of this Report confirm that:
• they know of no information which would be
relevant to the auditors for the purposes of
their Audit Report, of which the auditors are
not aware; and
• they have taken all the steps that they ought
to have taken to make themselves aware of
any such information and to establish that
the auditors are aware of it.

Directors’ responsibility statement

The Directors believe that the Annual Report
and Accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced
and understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the
Group’s position and performance, business
model and strategy.

The annual general meeting (AGM) will be held
on 30 October 2019. Details of the business
to be transacted at the forthcoming AGM
are set out in the Notice of AGM which
is available on the Company’s website.

Events after the end of the
reporting period

Details of events that have occurred since
30 April 2019 are included in Note 25.
The Directors’ Report was approved by the
Board on 7 October 2019 and signed on its
behalf by

Lord Drayson

Chief Executive Officer

Lorimer Headley

Chief Financial Officer
7 October 2019

Independent auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) has
expressed willingness to continue in office as
auditor and a resolution to re-appoint them will
be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

At 30 April 2019

At 2 October 2019

No of
Ordinary Shares

% of
share capital

No of
Ordinary Shares

% of
share capital

Lord Drayson

19,881,162

15.5

19,881,162

15.5

Lady Drayson

17,444,569

13.6

17,444,569

13.6

Woodford Investment Management

25,717,478

20.0

15,176,204

11.8

13,384,497

10.4

13,384,497

10.4

Lansdowne Partners

—

—

7,200,000

5.6

Canaccord Genuity Group Inc

Baillie Gifford & Co

6,961,943

5.4

6,961,943

5.4

OUH NHS Foundation Trust

5,646,325

4.4

5,646,325

4.4
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The Directors are responsible for preparing
the Annual Report and the Financial
Statements in accordance with applicable
law and regulation.
Company law requires the directors to
prepare Financial Statements for each
financial year. Under that law the directors
have prepared the Group Financial Statements
in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by
the European Union and Company Financial
Statements in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
(United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
comprising FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic
of Ireland”, and applicable law). Under
company law the directors must not approve
the Financial Statements unless they are
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the group and company
and of the profit or loss of the Group and
Company for that period. In preparing the
Financial Statements, the Directors are
required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then
apply them consistently;
• s tate whether applicable IFRSs, as
adopted by the European Union have
been followed for the Group Financial
Statements and whether United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS
102, have been followed for the Company
Financial Statements, subject to any
material departures disclosed and
explained in the Financial Statements;
• make judgements and accounting
estimates that are reasonable and
prudent; and
• p
 repare the Financial Statements on
the going concern basis unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the Group
and Company will continue in business.
The Directors are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and
Company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for keeping
adequate accounting records that are
sufficient to show and explain the Group and
Company’s transactions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Group and Company and
enable them to ensure that the Financial
Statements comply with the Companies
Act 2006.
The Directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the Company’s
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination
of Financial Statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Lord Drayson

Chief Executive Officer

Lorimer Headley

Chief Financial Officer
7 October 2019
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Financial Statements

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent auditors’ report
to the members of Sensyne Health plc

Report on the audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
In our opinion:

• Sensyne Health plc’s Group Financial Statements and Company Financial Statements (the “Financial Statements”) give a true and fair view
of the state of the Group’s and of the Company’s affairs as at 30 April 2019 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended;
• the Group Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the European Union;
• the Company Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and
Republic of Ireland”, and applicable law); and
• the Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
We have audited the Financial Statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise: the Consolidated and Company Statements of
Financial Position as at 30 April 2019; the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, and
the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the year then ended and the Company Statement of Changes in Equity for the period
ended 30 April 2019; and the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities
under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the Financial Statements
in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements.

Our audit approach
Overview
• Overall Group materiality: £816,000, based on 5% of loss before tax adjusted for IPO transaction costs.

Materiality

• Overall Company materiality: £500,000, based on 1% of total assets.

• Sensyne Health plc operates under one main component, Sensyne Health Group Limited, both of which
are UK companies. There is one other UK based subsidiary.

Audit
scope

• We performed a full scope audit over Sensyne Health plc and Sensyne Health Group Limited, whilst
performing specific procedures over balances within the other statutory entities based on their overall
size and values of their specific Financial Statement line items.

Key audit
matters

• Our audit scoping gave us coverage over 93% of loss before tax from continuing operations.

• Accuracy of accounting for Group restructure (Group and Company).
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Report on the audit of the Financial Statements continued
Our audit approach continued
The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the Financial Statements. In particular,
we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making
assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits we also addressed the risk of management override
of internal controls, including evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors that represented a risk of material misstatement
due to fraud.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the Financial
Statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud)
identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit;
and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon,
were addressed in the context of our audit of the Financial Statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.
Key audit matter

Accuracy of accounting for Group restructure

Refer to pages 34 to 35 (Audit and Risk Committee Report), pages
61 to 67 (Significant Accounting Policies and pages 77 to 80 (notes).
During the year ended 30 April 2019, a Group reorganisation took
place as described in the basis of preparation (Note 1). As a result
of the restructuring, a new parent was created and certain legacy
subsidiary were divested prior to Sensyne Health plc’s admittance
to AIM.
We focused our audit work on the accounting adopted by management
to represent the reorganisation within these Financial Statements
with a particular focus on accuracy.
This impacts both the Group and Company Financial Statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
We considered the appropriateness of the accounting for the restructure,
and whether or not it met the criteria of a business combination under
IFRS 3, or as a Group reorganisation and therefore to be accounted for
using the principles of merger accounting. We evaluated both principles
and the nature of the restructure in order to conclude that it should be
treated as a capital reorganisation.
As part of our evaluation of the steps taken by the Group and
Company, we agreed the resulting journal entries into supporting
documents including legal documents and agreed their impact
disclosure in the Group and Company financial statements. Based on
work performed, we concur the Group restructure has been accurately
accounted for.

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the Financial Statements as a whole,
taking into account the structure of the Group and the Company, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which they operate.
Sensyne Health plc operates under one main component, Sensyne Health Group Limited, both of which are UK companies. There is one other
UK based subsidiary, two subsidiaries incorporated in Mexico and one subsidiary incorporated in the US.
We performed a full scope audit over Sensyne Health plc and Sensyne Health Group Limited, whilst performing specific procedures over
balances within the other statutory entities based on their overall size and values of their specific Financial Statement line items.
Our audit scoping gave us coverage over 93% of loss before tax from continuing operations.
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Independent auditors’ report continued
to the members of Sensyne Health plc

Report on the audit of the Financial Statements continued
Our audit approach continued
Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These, together
with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the
individual Financial Statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the
Financial Statements as a whole.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the Financial Statements as a whole as follows:
Group Financial Statements

Company Financial Statements

Overall materiality

£816,000.

£500,000.

How we determined it

5% of loss before tax adjusted for exceptional items.

1% of total assets.

Rationale for
bench-mark applied

Based on the benchmarks used in the annual report,
loss before tax is the primary measure used by the
shareholders in assessing the performance of the
Group, and is a generally accepted auditing benchmark.
This has been adjusted for IPO transaction costs,
identified as transaction fees in relation to the IPO.
We believe this to be an appropriate benchmark as it
eliminates any disproportion effects of one-off charges
incurred and provides a consistent year-on-year basis
for our work.

We believe that total assets is the primary measure used
by the shareholders in assessing the performance of the
entity, and is a generally accepted auditing benchmark.

For each component in the scope of our Group audit, we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall Group materiality. The range of
materiality allocated across components was between £500,000 and £775,200. Certain components were audited to a local statutory audit
materiality that was also less than our overall Group materiality.
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above £40,800 (Group audit) and
£25,000 (Company audit) as well as misstatements below those amounts that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Going concern

In accordance with ISAs (UK) we report as follows:
Reporting obligation

Outcome

We are required to report if we have anything material to add or
draw attention to in respect of the directors’ statement in the
Financial Statements about whether the directors considered it
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing the Financial Statements and the directors’ identification of
any material uncertainties to the Group’s and the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern over a period of at least twelve
months from the date of approval of the Financial Statements.

We have nothing material to add or to draw attention to.
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However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted,
this statement is not a guarantee as to the Group’s and Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. For example, the terms on which
the United Kingdom may withdraw from the European Union are not
clear, and it is difficult to evaluate all of the potential implications on
the Group’s trade, customers, suppliers and the wider economy.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report on the audit of the Financial Statements continued
Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the Financial Statements and our auditors’ report
thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the Financial Statements does not cover the other information and,
accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.
In connection with our audit of the Financial Statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to
conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the Financial Statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.
With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies Act 2006
have been included.
Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 (CA06) and ISAs
(UK) require us also to report certain opinions and matters as described below (required by ISAs (UK) unless otherwise stated).

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report for
the year ended 30 April 2019 is consistent with the Financial Statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements. (CA06)
In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not
identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report. (CA06)

The directors’ assessment of the prospects of the Group and of the principal risks that would threaten the
solvency or liquidity of the Group

As a result of the directors’ voluntary reporting on how they have applied the UK Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”), we are required to
report to you if we have anything material to add or draw attention to regarding:
• The directors’ confirmation on page 18 of the Annual Report that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks facing the
Group, including those that would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity.
• The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those risks and explain how they are being managed or mitigated.
• The directors’ explanation on page 21 of the Annual Report as to how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what period
they have done so and why they consider that period to be appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have a reasonable
expectation that the Group will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment,
including any related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.
We have nothing to report in respect of this responsibility.

Other Code Provisions

As a result of the directors’ voluntary reporting on how they have applied the Code, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
• The statement given by the directors, on page 48, that they consider the Annual Report taken as a whole to be fair, balanced and understandable,
and provides the information necessary for the members to assess the Group’s and Company’s position and performance, business model and
strategy is materially inconsistent with our knowledge of the Group and Company obtained in the course of performing our audit.
• The section of the Annual Report on page 34 describing the work of the Audit Committee does not appropriately address matters
communicated by us to the Audit Committee.
We have nothing to report in respect of this responsibility.
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Independent auditors’ report continued
to the members of Sensyne Health plc

Report on the audit of the Financial Statements continued
Responsibilities for the Financial Statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the financial statements set out on page 49, the directors
are responsible for the preparation of the Financial Statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of Financial Statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the Financial Statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Financial Statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements is located on the FRC’s website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part
16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other
purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent
in writing.

Other required reporting
Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches
not visited by us; or
• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
• the Company Financial Statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.
We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Other voluntary reporting
Other Code provisions

The directors have prepared a corporate governance statement and requested that we review it as though the Company were a premium listed
Company. We have nothing to report in respect of the requirement for the auditors of premium listed companies to report when the directors’
statement relating to the Company’s compliance with the Code does not properly disclose a departure from a relevant provision of the Code
specified, under the Listing Rules, for review by the auditors.

Mark Jordan (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London
7 October 2019

54

Sensyne Health plc
Annual Report 2019

For the year ended 30 April 2019

Note

Revenue

3

Cost of sales
Gross loss

(36)

(3,935)

6

(3,344)

—

4

(19,010)

(7,253)

(1,248)

7

Finance income

8

Loss for the period from continuing operations

Loss for the period from discontinued operations attributable to equity owners of the parent Company

(111)

(6,099)

Finance costs

Income tax credit

(192)
(2,260)

Other general and administration expenses

Loss before taxation

81

136

(8,283)

Sales and marketing expenses

Operating loss

Year ended
30 April 2018
£000

(172)

Research and development expenses

Other general and administration expenses – exceptional items

Year ended
30 April 2019
£000

9
18

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the period attributable to equity holders of the
parent Company

(947)

(233)

—

256

—

(18,987)

(7,253)
180

28

(18,959)

(7,073)

(2,975)

(42,770)

(21,934)

(49,843)

(19,010)

(7,253)

3,106

953

91

—

772

—

(11,513)

(6,222)

(0.16)

(0.08)

Adjusted operating loss
Operating loss for the period from continuing operations
Exceptional items

Amortisation of intangible assets

6
10

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

11

Depreciation of right of use assets

12

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

11

Share-based payments

22

Adjusted operating loss

Earnings per share for loss attributable to the owners of the parent Company during the year
Basic and diluted loss per share – continuing operations (£)

2

Basic and diluted loss per share – discontinued operations (£)

2

—

3,344

78

163

—

21

(0.03)

(0.45)

The notes on pages 61 to 85 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 April 2019

Note

30 April 2019
£’000

30 April 2018
£’000

Intangible assets

10
11

18,068

4,714

Property, plant and equipment
Right of use assets

12

Long-term deposits

14

Non-current assets

Current assets

Trade and other receivables

14

Corporation tax credit for research and development

14

Cash and cash equivalents

15

Assets held for distribution to owners

18

757

95

—

114

20,549

4,923

784

236

49,252

4,541

1,724

208

—

180

—

3,960

50,244

8,917

(3,368)

(1,200)

—

(425)

(3,610)

(1,625)

Net current assets

46,634

7,292

Total assets less current liabilities

67,183

12,215

(1,769)

—

(1,769)

—

65,414

12,215

12,857

109,900

(86,930)

(69,850)

80,002

(27,835)

65,414

12,215

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

16

Short-term lease liability

12

Liabilities directly associated with assets held for distribution to owners

18

Non-current liabilities
Long-term lease liability

12

Net assets
Equity

Share capital

19

Share premium account

19

Other reserves

20

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses)
Total equity

(242)

59,485

—

—

The notes on pages 61 to 85 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
The Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 55 to 85 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 7 October 2019 and were
signed on its behalf by:

Lord Drayson			
Chief Executive Officer		
Sensyne Health plc
Registered no: 11425451
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Lorimer Headley

Chief Financial Officer

As at 30 April 2019

Non-current assets

Shares in Group undertakings

Note

30 April 2019
£’000

13

148,093
148,093

Current assets

Trade and other receivables

14

54,119
54,119

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

16

(3,190)
(3,190)

Net current assets

50,929

Total assets less current liabilities

199,022

Net assets

199,022

Equity

Called-up share capital

19

Share premium account

19

Other reserves

20

12,857

59,485

772

Retained earnings

125,908

Total equity

199,022

The Company’s loss for the period was £3,863,000.
The notes on pages 61 to 85 are an integral part of these Company Financial Statements.
The Consolidated and Company Financial Statements on pages 55 to 85 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 7 October 2019
and were signed on its behalf by:

Lord Drayson			
Chief Executive Officer		

Lorimer Headley

Chief Financial Officer

Sensyne Health plc
Registered no: 11425451
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Company Statement of Financial Position

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 April 2019

Note

Cash used in operations

21

Finance income received

Cash flows used in continuing operating activities
Cash flows used in discontinued operating activities

18

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

11

Purchase of other intangible assets

10

Cash flows used in continuing investing activities
Cash flows used in discontinued investing activities

18

Net cash outflow used in investing activities
Financing activities

Proceeds from the issue of share capital

19

Financing and share issue costs
Payments against lease liability
Net cash inflow from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period

15

Cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations

18

Effect of foreign exchange rate change
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period
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(13,123)
256

Total net cash outflow used in operating activities
Investing activities

Year ended
30 April 2019
£’000

15

(12,867)

Year ended
30 April 2018
£’000

(5,372)
—
(5,372)

(2,068)

(2,644)

(14,935)

(8,016)

(846)

(75)

(1,460)

(518)

(2,306)

(593)

149

(325)

(2,157)

(918)

64,778

10,660

(2,934)

(75)

(20)

—

61,824

10,585

44,732

1,651

4,541

3,036

—

(146)

(21)

—

49,252

4,541

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 April 2019

Note

At 1 May 2017

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year
Issue of share capital
At 30 April 2018

Share capital
£’000

Share premium
£’000

Other reserves
£’000

Retained
earnings/
(accumulated
losses)
£’000

Total
£’000

95,957

—

(71,493)

22,008

46,472

—

—

—

(49,843)

(49,843)

13,943

—

1,643

—

15,586

109,900

—

(69,850)

(27,835)

12,215
(21,934)

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year

—

—

—

(21,934)

Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations

—

—

(21)

—

(21)

59,485

(17,831)

—

76,868

Issue of share capital

19

35,214

Capital reduction

19

(129,771)

—

—

129,771

—

Capital repayment

19

(2,486)

—

—

—

(2,486)

Share-based payment charge

22

—

—

772

—

772

12,857

59,485

(86,930)

80,002

65,414

At 30 April 2019
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity
For the period ended 30 April 2019

Note

Share
capital
£’000

Share
premium
£’000

Other
reserves
£’000

Retained
earnings
£’000

—

—

—

—

—

19

132,487

—

—

—

132,487
(2,486)

At date of incorporation (20 June 2018)
Share for share exchange

Total
£’000

Capital repayment

19

(2,486)

—

—

—

Capital reduction

19

(129,771)

—

—

129,771

—

Acquisition of Strategic Research Agreements

19

20

14,980

—

—

15,000
—

Bonus issue of preferred C shares

19

6

(6)

—

—

Bonus issue of ordinary shares for IPO preference

19

9,172

(9,172)

—

—

—

Issue of ordinary share capital on Admission

19

3,429

56,571

—

—

60,000

Admission fees

19

—

(2,888)

—

—

(2,888)

—

—

—

(3,863)

(3,863)

—

—

772

—

772

12,857

59,485

772

125,908

199,022

Total comprehensive loss for the period
Share-based payment charge
At 30 April 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 April 2019

1 Significant accounting policies
General information

Sensyne Health plc (the “Company”) is a public company limited by shares, registered in England and Wales, incorporated and domiciled in the United
Kingdom, whose shares are publicly traded on the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange. The address of its registered
office is the Schrödinger Building, Heatley Road, Oxford Science Park, Oxford, England OX4 4GE.
The Company and its subsidiary undertakings are referred to in this report as the Group.
The principal activities of the Group are described in the Strategic Report, and the Company in the Directors’ Report, that accompanies these
Consolidated Financial Statements.
The Consolidated Financial Statements were approved for issue by the Board on 7 October 2019.

Basis of Preparation

The Consolidated Financial Statements consolidate those of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2019. Inter-company transactions, balances
and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform to the Group’s accounting policies.
The Company Financial Statements present information about the Company as a separate entity for the ten month period from its incorporation
on 20 June 2018 until 30 April 2019, and do not include information pertaining to the rest of the Group.
The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRSs adopted by the EU), IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) interpretations and the
Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.
The Company Financial Statements have been prepared in compliance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards, Financial Reporting
Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” FRS 102) and the Companies Act 2006.
These Consolidated and Company Financial Statements are presented in UK pounds sterling (£), which is also the Company and Group’s
functional currency, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (£’000) except where otherwise indicated.
The accounting policies presented below have been applied consistently year on year, other than where new policies have been adopted, as
set out below.
The preparation of Financial Statements in conformity with IFRSs and FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the Consolidated Financial Statements, are disclosed
later in this note.
The Company was incorporated on 20 June 2018 and acquired the Drayson Technologies Limited (“DTL”) group on 7 August 2018 as detailed
in Note 18. In accordance with IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group for the year to 30 April 2019
have been prepared as a continuation of the DTL business and to account for its acquisition by insertion of the holding company (Sensyne Health plc).
In doing so, the comparatives for the year to 30 April 2018 have been presented as if the Group had always existed in its current form.
Refer to Note 18 for details of the Group reorganisation.
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption to prepare the Statement of Comprehensive Income under section 408 of the
Companies Act 2006. The loss for the Company for the ten month period ended 30 April 2019, dealt with in its Company Financial Statements,
was £3,863,000.
The Company does not have a bank account therefore no cash flow statement has been prepared.
The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions in preparing these Company Financial Statements, as permitted
by FRS 102:
i)	certain financial instruments disclosures, required under FRS 102 paragraphs 11.39 to 11.48A and paragraphs 12.26 to 12.29, as the
information is provided in the Consolidated Financial Statement disclosures; and
ii)	related party disclosures in accordance with paragraph 33.1A of FRS 102, to the extent that the Company transacts with wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group.

Going concern

The Directors have prepared the Consolidated and Company Financial Statements on a going concern basis. In considering the going concern
basis, the Directors have considered the principal risks and uncertainties set out in this note. The Group’s forecasts and projections, taking
account of reasonably possible changes in trading performance, support the conclusion that there is a reasonable expectation that the Company
and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and a period of not less than 12 months
from the date of this report. Accordingly, the going concern basis has been adopted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 April 2019

1 Significant accounting policies continued
Segmental operations

The Directors consider that the Group operates in predominantly one business segment, being the development and commercialisation of digital
health products, and that there are therefore no additional segmental disclosures to be made in these Consolidated Financial Statements.

Alternative performance measures

Adjusted operating loss is profit or loss before interest, taxation, depreciation, amortisation, loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment,
share-based payments and exceptional items. It is used by management and analysts to assess the business before one-off and non-cash items.
A reconciliation of adjusted operating loss to operating loss is presented on the face of the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business that represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations that will not be progressed in the future. Discontinued operations are presented on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income as a separate line and are shown net of tax. Cash flows relating to discontinued operations are disclosed in the notes. The non-health
business of Drayson Technologies (Europe) Limited (DTEL) has been treated as a discontinued operation; for further details see Note 18.

The impact of the new International Financial Reporting Standards

New accounting standards, amendments to standards and IFRS IC interpretations which became applicable during the year are noted below.

IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

This standard was adopted from the date of initial application – 1 May 2018. The five step model for revenue recognition has been applied
to each revenue-generating contract. No significant impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements following adoption of the standard has
been identified.
Revenue comprises the fair value of consideration received or receivable for licence income and the rendering of services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value added tax and trade discounts. Revenue is generated as follows:

a) Licence income

Technology and product licensing revenue represents amounts earned for licences granted under licensing agreements, including upfront
payments. Revenues are recognised over time when the Group’s obligations related to the revenues have been completed.

b) Rendering of services

Services relate to implementation and deployment fees for the software products licensed to customers. Revenue is recognised when it is
considered highly probable that the related performance criteria will be met in the accounting periods in which the services are rendered.
Under IFRS 15 revenues shall be disaggregated into categories that depict how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash
flows are affected by economic factors, and reconciled with the segment information.
The nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of licence income and rendering of services are affected by the same economic factors, being
those derived from implementing and granting access for the technology and products.

IFRS 16 “Leases”

This standard is mandatory for the accounting period beginning on 1 January 2019 but the Group early adopted it on 1 May 2018 under the
simplified approach. This standard replaces IAS 17 and sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
of leases.
IFRS 16 assesses the use of off-balance sheet leases, bringing most lessee leases on balance sheet and eliminating the distinction between
operating and finance leases. The business has assessed the impact of the standard which replaces IAS 17 and sets out the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases.
At inception, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease. The Group recognises a right of use (ROU) asset and a lease
liability at the commencement of the lease. The lessee recognises a liability for lease obligations, initially measured based on the present value
of the lease payments. Correspondingly, an ROU asset is capitalised which is generally equivalent to the present value of the future lease payments,
plus initial direct costs and the cost of obligations to refurbish the asset, less any incentives received. The ROU asset is subject to testing for
impairment if there is an indicator for impairment and is amortised over the useful economic life.
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1 Significant accounting policies continued
The impact of the new International Financial Reporting Standards continued
IFRS 16 “Leases” continued

ROU assets are included in non-current assets and the lease liability is included separately under current and non-current liabilities in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. During the application of IFRS 16 to operating leases, the ROU of the single leased asset was
measured at the amount of the lease liability based on the Group’s weighted average cost of capital of 18%.
In accordance with IFRS 16, leases which had a remaining term of less than 12 months at the date of application, or new short-term leases
have not been included within the IFRS 16 calculations. Payments made under these operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are charged to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

The new financial instruments standard (IFRS 9), effective 1 January 2018, has been applied retrospectively, however has not led to restatement
of the prior year results. The primary impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 has been regarding the method of calculation of the bad debt provision
following the introduction of the expected credit loss method in IFRS 9. The impact of this change has not, however had a material impact on
the Group. The group operates with financial assets and liabilities that have simple contractual terms and are therefore paid or received when
due, together with a low volume of receivable balances against which there is a history of immaterial impairment provisions.

New standards issued but not yet effective

There are no new standards that have been issued which are not yet effective that are expected to have a material impact on the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Intangible assets
a) Research and development costs

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which
it is incurred.
Internally generated intangible assets arising from the Group’s development are recognised if, and only if, all of the following conditions have
been demonstrated:
• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
• the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
• the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;
• the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible assets; and
• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
The amount initially recognised for internally generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible
asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure
is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition,
internally generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Amounts capitalised include an allocation of R&D staff payroll costs based on a time-sheet system and of externally provided workers similarly
on a scope and time-invoiced basis. In respect to payroll costs, senior management and Directors are specifically excluded.
Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their expected useful life of three years once fully completed and the amortisation is
classified within research and development expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

b) Software licences

Acquired software licences are stated at historical cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Software is amortised
over its estimated useful life, on a straight-line basis and is classified within research and development expenses in the Consolidated Statement
of Comprehensive Income.
Where factors, such as technological advancement or changes in market price, indicate that residual value or useful life have changed, the
residual value, useful economic life or amortisation rate are amended prospectively to reflect the new circumstances.
The assets are reviewed for impairment if the above factors indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 April 2019

1 Significant accounting policies continued
Intangible assets continued
c) Other licences
Other licences include:

• licences acquired from third parties with a perpetual life for the further development and commercialisation of intellectual property and
products in the field of digital health; these are considered to have a five year useful economic life; and
• Strategic Research Agreements with certain NHS Trusts with a five or ten year term that provide the Group with the option to license the
further development of intellectual property and products in the field of digital health, and also access to specific patient data sets derived
by these NHS Trusts.
These licences have a finite useful life equal to the term of the contract and are amortised over this term accordingly on a straight-line basis.
Amortisation charges are classified within research and development expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Where factors, such as technological advancement or changes in market price, indicate that residual value or useful economic life have
changed, the residual value, useful economic life or amortisation rate are amended prospectively to reflect the new circumstances.
The assets are reviewed for impairment if the above factors indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired.

d) Intellectual property

Intellectual property comprising patents and trademarks has a finite useful life and is carried at historical cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of intellectual property over its estimated useful economic life,
subject to any additional impairment that might arise, and classified within research and development in the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income. The estimated useful economic lives of patents and trademarks are as follows:
Patents – five years on a straight-line basis
Trademark – five years on a straight-line basis
Until an item of intellectual property is granted and registered, costs are capitalised and are not amortised until the asset has been fully
developed and is operational.

Foreign currencies

The functional and presentational currency of the Group is Pounds Sterling. Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries with a functional currency
which is a foreign currency are translated into Sterling at rates of exchange ruling at the end of the financial period and the results of foreign
subsidiaries are translated at the average exchange rate for the period.
All transactions denominated in foreign currency are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the time of the transaction.
All foreign exchange differences are taken to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which they arise. At the
reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the closing rate. Upon the translation of
any subsidiary’s results for the year and financial position at any given year end, the foreign exchange differences which may arise are
recognised directly in other reserves.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment assets are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment in value.
The cost of property, plant and equipment includes the original purchase price of the asset and the costs attributable to bringing the asset
to its working condition for its intended use. Depreciation is charged to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income under other
general and administrative expenses so as to write off the costs of assets over their estimated economic useful lives, using the straight-line
method, as follows:
Leasehold improvements – up to three years
Fixtures and fittings – up to five years
Plant and machinery – up to three years
At each period-end date, property, plant and equipment is reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. When a review for impairment is conducted, the recoverable amount is assessed by reference to the net present
value of expected future pre-tax cash flows of the relevant cash-generating unit or fair value, less costs to sell, if higher. Any impairment in value
is charged to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it occurs.

Long-term deposits

Long-term deposits are rent deposits which are receivable in more than one year from the period end.
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1 Significant accounting policies continued
Financial instruments

The Group’s financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, short-term deposits, receivables and payables arising directly
from operations.

a) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. They are generally
due for settlement within 30 days and are therefore all classified as current. Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition, do not carry
any interest, are stated at their fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method,
less provision for impairment.

b) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.

c) Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into.

d) Trade payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers.
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Provisions for liabilities

Provisions are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are measured at
the Directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the period-end date. Where the effect is material, the
provision is determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate which reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Investments

Investments held as fixed assets are stated at historical cost less provision for impairment. The Company assesses these investments for
impairment wherever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an investment may not be recoverable. If any such
indication of impairment exists, the Company makes an estimate of the recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount is less than the value of
the investment, the investment is considered to be impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in other general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity, only to the extent that they do not meet the definition of a financial liability. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new ordinary share options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Taxation

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

a) Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date.

b) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
Consolidated Financial Statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the
balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 April 2019

1 Significant accounting policies continued
Taxation continued
b) Deferred tax continued

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised based
on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax is charged or credited in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, except when it relates to items charged or
credited in other comprehensive income, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities
on a net basis.

Employee benefit costs

The Group makes contributions to defined contribution personal pension schemes for its Directors and employees. The pension cost charge
recognised in the year represents amounts payable by the Group to the funds. The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due.

Other employee benefits

The expected cost of compensated short-term absence (e.g. holidays) is recognised when employees render services that increase their
entitlement. An accrual is made for days earned but not taken, and prepayments recognised for holidays taken in excess of days earned.

Share-based payments and taxation implications

The Group and Company grant share options to Directors, employees and certain contractors. In accordance with IFRS 2 “Share-based
payments” and FRS 102, equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant.
Fair value is measured using the Monte Carlo pricing model, as appropriately amended, taking into account the terms and conditions of the
share-based awards.
The fair value determined at the date of grant of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group’s estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest. Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of options that are expected to vest. At the end of each reporting period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of
options that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if
any, in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
When the options are exercised and are satisfied by new issued shares, the proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs
are credited to Share Capital and Share Premium.
The share-based payments charge is included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and allocated to the classification
corresponding to the Directors or employees, with a corresponding increase in “Other Reserves’.
In the UK, the Group is entitled to a tax deduction for amounts treated as compensation on exercise of certain employee and Director share
options and on the vesting of conditional share awards under the UK’s tax rules. A compensation expense is recorded in the Consolidated Statement
of Comprehensive Income over the period from the grant date to the vesting date of the relevant options and conditional share awards. As there
is a temporary difference between the accounting and tax bases a deferred tax asset arises, but is not recognised on the basis that it is not
probable that future profits will arise against which the deferred tax asset may be utilised. The deferred tax asset arising is calculated by comparing
the estimated amount of tax deduction to be obtained in the future (based on the Company’s share price at the period end date) with the cumulative
amount of the compensation expense recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. If the amount of estimated future tax
deduction exceeds the cumulative amount of the remuneration expense at the statutory rate, the excess is recorded directly in equity against
retained earnings.

Exceptional items

The Group considers exceptional items to be those which derive from events or transactions which are significant for separate disclosure by
virtue of their size or incidence in order for the user to obtain a proper understanding of the Group’s financial performance. Please see Note 6
for further information.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

There were no derivatives at 30 April 2019 or 30 April 2018.
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1 Significant accounting policies continued
Critical accounting judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of Financial Statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results.
Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies. This note provides an overview of the areas that
involved a higher degree of judgement or complexity, and of items which are more likely to be materially adjusted due to estimates and assumptions
being revised. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are recognised prospectively.

Sources of estimation uncertainty

The key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

• Share-Based Payments

	Estimates have been made in the period around the fair value of the share options granted to the Directors, employees and certain
contractors of the Group for services provided and expected to vest based on non-market conditions.

• Intangible assets and investments impairment reviews

	When a review for impairment is conducted the recoverable amount of an asset is determined based on the higher of market value or value-in
use calculations prepared on the basis of management’s assumptions and estimates.

Significant judgements

Judgements made in applying the Group’s accounting policies that have the most significant impact on the amounts recognised in the
Financial Statements are:

• Capitalisation of internally generated intangible assets

	The Group follows the guidance of IAS38 to determine when internally generated intangible assets should be capitalised. The determination
requires judgement. In making this judgement, management assess each project against each of the capitalisation criteria. If one of the
conditions is not met, then the costs attributable to the project would not be capitalised.

• Valuation of Strategic Research Agreements as included in intangible assets

	The basis of valuation is on the basis that each party willingly enters into the terms of the contract which is in exchange for Equity
in the Company.

• Fair value of discontinued operations

	The basis of valuation of the discontinued operation at the date of de-merger. The Directors consideration that in the absence of third party
evidence, the net asset value at the date reflected the fair value.

2 Loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
2019

2018

118,398,830

94,285,800

(18,959)

(7,073)

Basic loss per share – continuing operations (£)

(0.16)

(0.08)

Adjusting items including exceptional items, amortisation and depreciation attributable to continuing operations (£’000)

7,446

1,031

(11,513)

(6,222)

(0.10)

(0.06)

Loss attributable to the discontinued operations (£’000)

(2,975)

(42,770)

Basic loss per share – discontinued operations (£)

(0.03)

(0.45)

2,500

40,881

(475)

(1,889)

—

(0.02)

Group

Weighted average number of shares in issue for the purpose of basic and adjusted loss per share
Loss attributable to equity owners of the parent company – continuing operations (£’000)

Adjusted loss attributable to equity owners of the parent company – continuing operations (£’000)
Adjusted basic loss per share – continuing operations (£)

Adjusting items including exceptional items, amortisation and depreciation attributable to discontinued
operations (£’000)
Adjusted loss attributable to the discontinued operations (£’000)
Adjusted basic loss per share – discontinued operations (£)

As net losses were recorded in the years ended 30 April 2019 and 2018, the dilutive potential shares are anti-dilutive and therefore were
excluded from the earnings per share calculation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 April 2019

3 Revenue

Revenue represents amounts derived from the provision of goods and services which fall within the business ordinary activities after deduction
of trade discounts and value added tax. These goods and services are product licensing revenues earned from licences granted under licensing
agreements, including upfront payments.
All turnover arose from the principal activity of the business. The origin of the Group’s revenue is:

United Kingdom

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

136

81

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

8,101

3,531

91

—

3,106

953

(1,049)

(453)

466

474

4 Operating loss

Operating loss is stated after charging/(crediting):

Staff costs (Note 5)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 11)
Depreciation of right of use assets (Note 12)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (Note 11)
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 10)
(Gain)/loss on foreign exchange
Staff costs capitalised (Note 5)
Share-based payments (Note 22)
Legal and professional fees
Operating lease expense – land and buildings (Note 12)
Exceptional items (Note 6)
Other expenses

163

21

(22)

772

78
—
21
—

226

616

3,791

2,033

19,010

7,253

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

3,344

—

An analysis of the fees paid to the Group’s auditor is provided below:

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Consolidated and Company Financial Statements
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s subsidiaries

84

—

25

56

109

56

20

—

10

10

—

8

501

18

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and its associates for other services:
– Audit-related assurance services
– Advisory work in relation to the IPO
– Advisory work in relation to restructure (Note 18)
– Other non-audit services

Audit fees of the Group and Company are borne by the Company.
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5 Employees and staff costs

Staff costs, including Executive Directors, comprised the following:
Group

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs
Share-based payments

Company

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2019
£’000

6,340

3,034

2,106

795

379

194

118

772

—

166

8,101

3,531

2,571

282

17

£1,049,000 (2018: £453,000) of the wages and salaries figure above has been capitalised in the year in line with the accounting policy on
research and development costs.
Total pension contributions outstanding at 30 April 2019 were £37,000 (2018: £26,000). All pension expenses relate to the Group’s defined
contribution scheme.
The average monthly number of employees, including Executive Directors, during the year was as follows:
Group

Company

2019
No.

2018
No.

2019
No.

37

27

—

Research and development
Sales and marketing
Other general and administration

6

8

16

17

59

52

—

2

2

The remuneration of the Executive Directors and Officers who are the key management personnel of the Group is set out below in aggregate
for each applicable category under IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”. Key management personnel are defined as the Executive Directors,
Non-Executive Directors, CTO/COO and VP of Strategic and Commercial Development. In the prior year the Group’s key management
personnel consisted of the Directors plus three others.
Group

Short term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Termination benefits
Share-based payments

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2,783

672

10

—

45

11

494

—

3,332

683

Retirement benefits are accruing to two (2018: three) Directors under a defined contribution pension scheme.
Remuneration of the highest paid Director comprised the following, and no share options in the Company were exercised during the period:

Aggregate emoluments
Company contributions to money purchase pension scheme

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

1,501

424

16

29

1,517

453

Further information about the remuneration of individual Executive and Non-Executive Directors, in respect of those appointed to the Board
of the Company, is provided in the Remuneration Report on page 42.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 April 2019

6 Exceptional items

Exceptional costs are analysed as follows:
Group

IPO transaction costs
Consortium for national data strategy

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2,652

—

692

—

3,344

—

Transaction costs totalling £5,540,000 were incurred in respect of the application made to the London Stock Exchange for all the issued and to
be issued Ordinary Share capital to be admitted to trading on AIM of which £2,652,000 has been included within the operating loss to 30 April 2019
and £2,888,000 was offset against the share premium account in accordance with IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”.
Consortium for national data strategy costs relate to professional fees incurred.

7 Finance costs
Group

Interest on lease liabilities
Bank charges

8 Finance income
Group

Bank interest received

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

230

—

3

—

233

—

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

256

—

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

9 Income tax credit
Analysis of income tax:
Group

Current tax

Current tax credit
Prior year adjustment

—

(180)

(28)

—

(28)

(180)

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Tax is attributable to:
Loss on continuing operations
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9 Income tax credit continued
Factors affecting the tax expense

The tax credit assessed for the year is higher (2018: higher) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. The difference is explained below:
2018
£’000

2019
£’000

Loss before income tax
Loss multiplied by the UK rate of corporation tax of 19% (2018: 19%)
Effects of:

(18,987)

(7,253)

(3,608)

(1,378)

642

14

—

—

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Research and development incentive
Share options

—

(77)

38

(82)

—

31

Timing difference
Deferred tax not recognised
Difference in overseas tax rate

2,897

1,343
—

Prior year adjustment

—

(28)

—

Total tax credit

(28)

(180)

At 30 April 2019, the Group had tax losses to be carried forward of approximately £36,499,000 (2018: £29,616,000). These can be utilised
against suitable future taxable profits in the United Kingdom.
A reduction in the rate of UK corporation tax to 17% from 1 April 2020 has been substantively enacted. UK deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised at a rate of 17% (2018: 17%).
A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect of these losses due to an uncertainty of future profit streams. The contingent deferred
tax asset at 17% (2018: 17%) is estimated to be £6,452,000 (2018: £4,956,000).
At 30 April 2019, the Group has tax assets arising from tax credits in the United Kingdom for certain research and development expenditure
of £208,000 (2018: £180,000).

10 Intangible assets
Group

Cost

At 1 May 2017
Additions
At 30 April 2018
Additions
At 30 April 2019
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 May 2017

Amortisation for the year

Software
licences
£’000

Other
licences
£’000

Development
costs
£’000

Patents and
trademarks
£’000

Total
£’000

109

50

—

—

159

11

5,042

453

12

5,518

120

5,092

453

12

5,677

4

15,090

1,191

175

16,460

124

20,182

1,644

187

22,137

8

2

—

—

10

23

930

—

—

953

At 30 April 2018

31

932

—

—

963

Amortisation for the year*

26

2,901

139

40

3,106

At 30 April 2019

57

3,833

139

40

4,069

Net book value
At 1 May 2017

101

48

—

—

149

At 30 April 2018

89

4,160

453

12

4,714

At 30 April 2019

67

16,349

1,505

147

18,068

*	The amortisation charge for the year includes an impairment charge of £33,000 (2018: £nil) in relation to previously recognised Patent and trademark costs no
longer in use.
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For the year ended 30 April 2019

10 Intangible assets continued

Other licences are rights to commercialise digital health products and capitalised Strategic Research Agreements (SRAs). The Group has capitalised
four SRAs, with remaining useful economic lives of nine years and three months; four years and three months; four years and three months;
and three years and one month. The £15,000,000 addition in the year was acquired through the issue of shares. At the year end, the four SRAs
have carrying amounts of £4,625,000, £4,250,000, £4,250,000 and £3,083,000 respectively.
The development costs are capitalised research and development costs in relation to our Digital Health Operating System to support our Digital
Health Software products that meet the criteria for capitalisation set out in the accounting policies. Amortisation is charged from the month the
product goes live.
Patents and trademarks are capitalised legal and application costs for various registrations that the business obtains to protect its intellectual
property. Amortisation is charged once the application is granted and secured.
As at 30 April 2019 and 30 April 2018, the Group identified no evidence that indicated these intangible assets may be impaired, other than in
relation to specific patents and trademarks as described above.

11 Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold
improvements
£’000

Fixtures
and fittings
£’000

Plant and
machinery
£’000

Total
£’000

At 1 May 2017

69

95

9

173

Additions

—

71

4

75

Group

Cost

At 30 April 2018

69

166

13

248

Additions

230

1

615

846

Disposals

(69)

(52)

(95)

(216)

230

115

533

878

At 30 April 2019
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 May 2017

20

54

1

75

Charge for the year

23

50

5

78

At 30 April 2018

43

104

6

153

Charge for the year

50

10

103

163

Disposals

(61)

(39)

(95)

(195)

At 30 April 2019

32

75

14

121

Net book value
At 1 May 2017

49

41

8

98

At 30 April 2018

26

62

7

95

At 30 April 2019

198

40

519

757
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12 Right of use assets and leased liabilities

From 1 May 2018 the Group early adopted IFRS 16 “Leases”, as described in Note 1.
The Group has entered into three lease agreements. Leases over land and buildings have a weighted average term of 15 years.
Land and
buildings
£’000

Right of use assets
Cost

At 1 May 2018

—

Additions

1,815

At 30 April 2019

1,815

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 May 2018

—

Charge for the year

(91)

At 30 April 2019

(91)

Net book value
At 1 May 2018

At 30 April 2019

—
1,724

Leased assets are capitalised at the commencement date of the lease and comprise the initial lease liability amount, initial direct costs incurred
when entering into the lease less any lease incentives received. All assets relate to offices leased by the Group.

Office buildings

The Group entered into three lease agreements for terms of fifteen years in September 2018, fourteen years and nine months in December 2018,
and five years in January 2019. The initial two leases may only be terminated by the Group, after 12 months’ notice, in September 2028 and the
final lease may be terminated in January 2022 after six months’ notice. The leases do not contain an option to purchase the assets at the end of
the lease term and do not impose any significant restrictions on the Group as a lessee.

Lease liabilities

2019
£’000

Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flows
Not later than one year

Later than one year and not later than five years

242

1,557

Later than five years

3,400

Total undiscounted cash flows

5,199

Current

242

Non-current

1,769

Total lease liabilities

2,011

The lease liability is measured at the present value of the fixed and variable lease payments net of cash lease incentives that are not paid at the
reporting balance sheet date. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Lease payments for buildings exclude service fees for cleaning and other costs.
The Group has another lease agreement which will expire in less than twelve months from the initial adoption of IFRS 16. In accordance with
IFRS 16, the exemption for disclosing further details on that lease has been applied. The cost incurred with respect to this lease for the year to
30 April 2019 was £190,000.

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

2019
£’000

Interest on lease liabilities

230

Deprecation of right of use assets

91

Expenses relating to short-term leases

226
547
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13 Shares in Group undertakings

Shares in Group
undertakings
£’000

Company

Cost and net book value
At 20 June 2018

—

Additions – share for share exchange

132,487

Additions – acquisition of subsidiary

2,486

Demerger

(2,486)

Capital contribution – SRAs

15,000

Capital contribution – share-based payments

606

At 30 April 2019

148,093

As at 30 April 2019, the Company identified no evidence that indicated the shares in Group undertakings may be impaired.
On 7 August 2018, the Company acquired a 100% holding in the shares of Drayson Technologies Limited (DTL) for a total cost of £132,487,000
via a share for share exchange (see Notes 18 and 19 for further information). In settlement of this transaction, the Company issued 433,199
Ordinary Shares, 1,033,560 preferred A1 shares, 93,047 preferred A2 shares, 465,290 preferred B shares and 277,025 preferred C shares,
each class with a nominal value of £57.55 per share to the shareholders of DTL.
The issue of shares to acquire DTL fell within the provisions of merger relief (section 612 of the Companies Act 2006) such that the Company
was prohibited from recording share premium. In accordance with section 615 of the Companies Act 2006 and as permitted by FRS 102, the
Company has recorded its investment in DTL at an amount equal to the aggregate nominal value of the shares issued.
On 8 August 2018, the Company acquired Drayson Technologies (Europe) Limited, which was subsequently demerged through a capital
reduction on the same date.
On 9 August 2018, the Company’s subsidiary, Sensyne Health Group Limited, entered into three five-year Strategic Research Agreements
with NHS Trusts in exchange for a total of 203,334 preferred C shares in the Company of £73.77 per share with a total consideration
of £15,000,000.
The capital contribution relating to share-based payments is for share options granted by the Company to employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group. Further details on the Group’s share option schemes can be found in Note 22.
As at 30 April 2019, the Company held direct and indirect investments in the following undertakings:
Name of company

Country of registration
(or incorporation)

Holding

Registered address

100%

Schrödinger Building, Heatley Road, Oxford England and Wales
Science Park, Oxford, England OX4 4GE

Trading

Sensyne Health Group Limited

100%

Schrödinger Building, Heatley Road, Oxford England and Wales
Science Park, Oxford, England OX4 4GE

Trading

Drayson Technologies, Inc.

100%

3500 South Dupont Highway, City of Dover,
County of Kent, 19901

United States of America

Non-trading

Drayson Technologies Mexico S.A
de C.V

100%

29, Floor 10-B, Colonia Polanco V Seccion,
C.P. 11560, Mexico City

Mexico

Non-trading

Drayson Technologies Mexico
(Services) S.A de C.V

100%

29, Floor 10-B, Colonia Polanco V Seccion,
C.P. 11560, Mexico City

Mexico

Non-trading

Direct subsidiaries

Drayson Technologies Limited
Indirect subsidiaries

All subsidiaries that are trading companies are involved in the ordinary activities of the Group.
All subsidiary undertakings are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Status

Amounts falling due within one year
Trade receivables

Other receivables
Prepayments and contract assets
Corporation tax credit for research and development
Amounts due from fellow Group undertakings

Group

Company

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2019
£’000

71

38

—

333

380

9
189

Long-term deposits

109

208

180

—

—

54,006

992

416

54,119

Group

Amount falling due after one year

4

—

Company

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2019
£’000

—

114

—

—

114

—

The fair values of all financial assets of the Group equate to their carrying value.
As at 30 April 2019, Group trade receivables of £65,000 (2018: £nil) were past due with an immaterial expected loss allowance. The past due
receivables relate to NHS customers who have no history of default.
As at 30 April 2019, Group trade receivables of £36,000 (2018: £nil) were impaired and provided for. The ageing analysis of these trade
receivables is over three months (2018: immaterial provision).
Amounts due from fellow Group undertakings are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

15 Cash and cash equivalents
Group

Cash at bank and in hand

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

49,252

4,541

49,252

4,541

The Company does not hold any cash.

16 Trade and other payables

Amounts falling due within one year
Trade payables

Other payables
Taxation and social security
Accruals and contract liabilities
Amounts due to fellow Group undertakings
Amounts due to related parties (Note 23)

Group

Company

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2019
£’000

1,201

421

35

43

257

24
99

1,406

656

461

—

3,368

1,200

—

4

—

39

626

2,486
—

3,190

Amounts due to fellow Group undertakings are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
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17 Financial instruments

Group

Financial assets: amortised cost (2018: loans and receivables)
Trade receivables

Other receivables

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2019
£’000

71

38

—

9

333

Corporation tax credit for research and development
Amounts due from fellow Group undertakings

4

180

208

Cash and cash equivalents

Company

—

49,252

4,541

—

—

54,006

49,864

4,768

54,010

—

Neither the Group nor the Company holds any other form of financial assets.
The business has the following financial liabilities whose carrying amount and fair values were as follows:
Group

Financial liabilities: amortised cost
Trade payables

Other payables
Amounts due to fellow Group undertakings
Lease liability

Company

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2019
£’000

1,201

421

35

43

24

—

—

2,011

—

3,255

445

4

2,486

—

2,525

Neither the Company nor the Group hold any other form of financial liabilities.

Financial risk management and policies

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: liquidity risk and credit risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Financial risk factors

The Group’s simple structure and the lack of external debt financing reduces the range of financial risks to which it is exposed. Monitoring of
financial risk is part of the Board’s ongoing risk management, the effectiveness of which is reviewed annually.

Foreign currency

As the Group operates primarily in the United Kingdom with very limited overseas operations there is limited exposure to foreign exchange risk.
Consequently, there are no material currency exposures to disclose (2018: £nil). The Group does not currently hedge against translation risk.

Liquidity risk

The business treasury policies are designed to ensure that sufficient cash is available to support current and future business requirements, with
funds generally placed on deposit. Cash and working capital management is a core feature of the Board’s business model and rolling cash flow
forecasts, updated on at least a monthly basis, are reviewed to manage these requirements. The Directors do not consider that there is
presently a material cash flow or liquidity risk.
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to
the contractual maturity date. The only financial liability outstanding for periods greater than one year in 2019 is a proportion of the lease liability
relating to our head office in Oxford which is payable over the length of the lease term. The amounts disclosed in the table are the undiscounted
contracted cash flows:
At 30 April

Trade and other payables
Lease liability
Total
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Less than 1 year
2019
£’000

Over 1 year
2019
£’000

Less than 1 year
2018
£’000

Over 1 year
2018
£’000

—

1,200

—

242

4,957

—

—

3,610

4,957

1,200

—

3,368
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17 Financial instruments continued
Credit risk

The business’s principal financial assets are cash, trade and other receivables, corporation tax and prepayments and accrued income, the
carrying values of which represent the business maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets, as shown in this note. The
business credit risk is primarily attributable to its cash.
The credit risk on cash is limited because the counterparties are banks with triple-A credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
The majority of the Group’s trade and other receivables are due from “blue chip” organisations or equivalents (NHS Trusts) where the risk of
default is considered low. The Group puts provisions in place for specific known bad debts.
The amounts presented in the Consolidated and Company Statements of Financial Position are net of any allowances for doubtful trade receivables,
estimated by the Group’s management based on prior experience and their assessment of the current economic environment. An analysis of
the Group’s trade receivables and provision for bad debts is included in Note 14.

Interest rate risk

The Group does not have any committed external borrowing facilities, as its cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposit balances are
sufficient to finance its current operations. Consequently, there is no material exposure to interest rate risk in respect of interest payable.

18 Group restructure and initial public offering

As part of the offer and Admission of the Ordinary share capital of the Company to the Alternative Investment Market (AIM) of the London
Stock Exchange, a restructuring was carried out of the Drayson Technologies Group, where DTL was the ultimate parent company. DTL
held the wholly owned subsidiary, Drayson Technologies (Europe) Limited (DTEL), that contained the Sensyne Health business and other
operations. The restructuring resulted in the Sensyne Health business now being held under the ultimate Group parent Sensyne Health plc.
The remaining business of DTEL is now held under the separately owned Drayson Holdco 2 Limited (DH2L) group.
The steps carried out from this date through to the offer and Admission and their impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements are set
out below.

Incorporation of Sensyne Health plc

Sensyne Health plc was incorporated on 20 June 2018 as Drayson Holdco Limited and later renamed Sensyne Health Limited prior to its
re-registration as a plc on 13 August 2018.

Share for share exchange – capital reorganisation

On 7 August 2018, Sensyne Health plc acquired the entire share capital of DTL with the consideration being the issue and allotment of shares
in the Company. The total consideration of the share for share exchange transaction was £132,487,000. This resulted in the Company having
acquired DTL for £132,487,000 and Sensyne Health plc replaced DTL as the ultimate parent company of the Group. Please see Note 19 “Share
Capital” for further details of this transaction.
The issue of shares to acquire DTL fell within the provisions of merger relief (section 612 of the Companies Act 2006) such that the Company
was prohibited from recording share premium. In accordance with section 615 of the Companies Act 2006 and as permitted by IFRS, the
Company has recorded its investment in DTL an amount equal to the aggregate nominal value of the shares issued.
The insertion of a new company on top of an existing group by issuing shares to the existing shareholders does not meet the definition of
a “business combination” in accordance with IFRS 3. This is because, if the transaction was defined as a business combination, it would be
characterised as a reverse acquisition with DTL being deemed to be the accounting acquirer. However, in accordance with IFRS 3 Appendix B
para 19, the accounting acquirer (Sensyne Health plc) must meet the definition of a business for the transaction to be accounted for as
a reverse acquisition.
The transaction is not a business combination and should be accounted for as a capital reorganisation and the share for share exchange
transaction accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”.
In these consolidated Financial Statements, the transaction to insert the new holding Company, Sensyne Health plc, has been presented as
though the capital reorganisation results in a continuation of the consolidated Financial Statements of its predecessor holding Company, DTL.
The consolidated Financial Statements of the new entity will be presented using the carrying values from the Consolidated Financial Statements
of the previous Group holding company, DTL. The equity structure − that is, the issued share capital – reflects that of the new Company, with
other amounts in equity (such as retained earnings and translation reserves) being those from the Consolidated Financial Statements of the DTL
group. The resulting difference that arose is recognised as a component of other reserves. The acquirer’s (i.e. Sensyne Health plc) consolidated
Financial Statements include the acquired entity’s (DTL) full-year’s results (including comparatives), even though the transaction occurred part
of the way through the year.
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18 Group restructure and initial public offering continued
Share reorganisation

On 7 August 2018, the Company undertook a share reorganisation in readiness for the demerger of its interests in DTEL. Please see Note 19
“Share Capital” for further details of this transaction.

DTL transfers the entire investment in DTEL to Sensyne Health plc

On 8 August 2018, DTL transferred its entire investment in DTEL to the Company at book value prior to the planned demerger in the next step.

Demerger of DTEL via a reduction and repayment of capital

On 8 August 2018, the Company demerged DTEL whereby the share capital was reduced, with £2,486,000 – representing the fair market value
of this company on the same date – being repaid, the repayment being satisfied by the transfer by the Company to DH2L of the entire share
capital of DTEL, in consideration of the allotment and issue by DH2L of one Drayson Holdco 2 Limited share for each Sensyne Health plc share
held by the Sensyne Health plc shareholders at the date of the demerger. The net assets of DTEL as at the date of the demerger, 8 August 2018,
was £2,486,000, resulting in nil gain nil loss on distribution of £2,486,000.

Capital reduction to create distributable reserves for future use

On 9 August 2018, the Company entered into a capital reduction to free up distributable reserves for future use. Please see Note 19 “Share
Capital”’ for further details of this transaction.

Re-registration as a plc

On 13 August 2018, the Company re-registered itself as Sensyne Health plc in preparation for its offer and Admission to AIM.

Bonus issue and share re-designation of entire share capital

Immediately prior to Admission, on 17 August 2018, the Company issued bonus share capital to its shareholders to ensure the number of
shares is appropriate to achieve the target share price of £1.75 per share on Admission and on the same date re-designated each class of
share in issue at that same date as Ordinary Shares such that the Company has only one class of shares prior to the IPO. Please see Note 19
“Share Capital” for further details of this transaction.

Admission to AIM

On 13 August 2018, the Company announced its initial public offering (IPO) to place its existing 94,285,800 £0.10 Ordinary shares and a further
placing of 34,285,714 £0.10 Ordinary shares to be issued by the Company pursuant to the placing offered at a price of £1.75 per share. The
placing shares to be issued by the Company represented 26.7% of the enlarged share capital. The IPO occurred on 17 August 2018. Please
see Note 19 “Share Capital” for further details of this transaction.

Discontinued operations
a) Description

During 2018, the Group set out a plan to demerge the Sensyne Health business from DTL. In accordance with IFRS 3 “Business Combination” the
demerger transaction would represent a return of capital and capital distribution to the shareholders of Sensyne Health plc, the ultimate parent company.
This requires that except for transactions of the Sensyne Health business, all other DTL transactions are reclassified as discontinued operations
and the associated assets and liabilities were consequently presented as held for distribution to its owners in the Consolidated Financial
Statements, to comply with IFRS 5 “Assets held for sale and discontinued operations”.
DTEL was the trading subsidiary of DTL that held both the Sensyne Health business and other businesses of the DTL group.
DH2L was incorporated as a separate entity to the DTL group.
On 8 August 2018, the Company entered into a capital reduction to cancel its share capital of £2,486,000. A capital repayment for a value of
£2,486,000 was then made to shareholders that was satisfied by the Company transferring the entire issued share capital of DTEL to a
separate entity, DH2L, in consideration for DH2L issuing shares to the shareholders of the Company (at nil gain or loss to Sensyne Health plc).
Discontinued operations in 2019 include the results of DTEL for the period up to 8 August 2018, when it was demerged from Sensyne Health
plc by way of a capital reduction. Prior year comparatives in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income have been restated
accordingly in accordance with IFRS 5 “Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.
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18 Group restructure and initial public offering continued
Discontinued operations continued
b) Results of discontinued operations

DTEL was demerged on 8 August 2018 and is reported in the current period as a discontinued operation. Financial information relating to the
discontinued operation for the period to the date of disposal is set out below:
Period to
8 August 2018
£’000

Year to
30 April 2018
£’000

Revenue

—

259

Cost of sales

—

(104)

Gross profit

Research and development expenditure
Sales and marketing expenses

—

155

(186)

(2,034)

(67)

(513)

(222)

(704)

Exceptional items*

(2,500)

(40,015)

Operating loss from discontinued operations

(2,975)

(43,111)

—

24

Loss for the financial year before taxation from discontinued operations

(2,975)

(43,087)

—

317

Loss for the financial year from discontinued operations

(2,975)

(42,770)

(2,068)

(2,644)

149

(325)

(1,919)

(2,969)

Other general and administrative expenses

Finance income

Income tax credit

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from:
Operating activities
Investing activities
Net cash outflow

*	Exceptional items relate to impairment charges to intangible assets from a previous restructuring of DTEL which should no longer be applied to the operations
of the discontinued business.

c) Details of the disposal of discontinued operations

Included in the analysis below are the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities as at the date of disposal:
At 8 August 2018
£’000

Consideration received or receivable
Fair value of distribution

2,486

Total net consideration

2,486

Carrying amounts of assets and liabilities as at the date of distribution
Intangible assets

730

Property, plant and equipment

118

Inventories
Trade and other receivables

92
1,462

Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets

808
3,210

Trade and other payables

(724)

Total liabilities

(724)

Total net liabilities disposed

(2,486)
—

Result on disposal of operation
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18 Group restructure and initial public offering continued
Discontinued operations continued
d) Assets and liabilities held for distribution to owners

The following assets and liabilities were reclassified as held for distribution to owners in relation to the discontinued operation as at each of the
comparative reporting dates:
2018
£’000

Assets classified as held as distribution to owners
Intangible assets

702

Goodwill

2,500

Property, plant and equipment

140

Long-term deposits

2

Inventories

93

Trade and other receivables

377

Cash and cash equivalents

146
3,960

Total assets classified as held as distribution to owners
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held as distribution to owners
Trade and other payables

(425)

Total liabilities of disposal group held as distribution to owners

(425)

19 Share capital
Number
of shares

Nominal
value
£’000

Share
premium
£’000

128,571,514

12,857

59,485

128,571,514

12,857

59,485

Share
capital
£’000

Share
premium
£’000

Group and Company
At 30 April 2019

Authorised, allotted and fully paid
Ordinary shares of £0.10 each

All shares rank pari passu in all respects.
Company

Shares issued on incorporation at 20 June 2018
Issue of share capital in consideration for the shares in Drayson Technologies Limited at 7 August 2018
Capital distribution at 8 August 2018
Capital reduction at 9 August 2018
Issue of share capital at 9 August 2018
Bonus issue of preferred C shares at 17 August 2018

—

—

132,487

—

(2,486)

—

(129,771)

—

20

14,980

6

(6)

Issue of liquidation preference share capital at 17 August 2018

9,172

(9,172)

Issue of share capital at IPO on 17 August 2018

3,429

56,571

—

(2,888)

12,857

59,485

Expense offset against share premium
At 30 April 2019
On incorporation on 20 June 2018, the Company issued a single Ordinary share with a nominal value of £1 per share.

On 24 July 2018, the issued Ordinary share capital was subdivided into 100 £0.01 Ordinary shares. On the same day, 5,655 Ordinary shares
with a nominal value of £0.01 per share were issued and then the Company carried out a consolidation of Ordinary shares to provide one
Ordinary share with a nominal value of £57.55 per share.
On 7 August 2018, the Company issued 433,199 Ordinary shares, 1,033,560 preferred A1 shares, 93,047 preferred A2 shares, 465,290
preferred B shares and 277,025 preferred C shares, each class with a nominal value of £57.55 per share to the shareholders of DTL in exchange
for 100% of the share capital of this Company. The total nominal value of the share for share exchange was £132,487,064.
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19 Share capital continued

On 7 August 2018, the Company undertook a share reorganisation such that each existing share class is sub divided into one FV share with
a nominal value of £1.08 per share and one H share with a nominal value of £56.47 per share. The FV shares would entitle the shareholder
to a share of the assets of the Freevolt business and H shares would entitle the shareholder to a share of the assets of the Health business.
The total nominal value of the FV shares is £2,486,291 and the total nominal value of the H shares is £130,000,773.
On 8 August 2018, the Company entered into a capital reduction to cancel its entire FV share capital of £2,486,291. A capital repayment for a
value of £2,486,291 was then made to shareholders that was satisfied by the Company transferring the entire issued FV share capital of DTEL
to a separate entity, DH2L, in consideration for DH2L issuing shares to the shareholders of the Company (at nil gain to Sensyne Health plc).
On 9 August 2018, the Company entered into a capital reduction to reduce the nominal value of H share capital from £56.47 per share down
to £0.10 per share reducing the total nominal value of H share capital to £230,212. The capital reduction of £129,770,561 has been credited
to retained earnings.
On 9 August 2018, the Company issued preferred C shares at £73.77 with a total nominal value of £20,333 and total share premium
of £14,979,667 in connection with the acquisition of Strategic Research Agreements with three NHS Trusts in the United Kingdom.
On 17 August 2018, the Company issued 62,114 £0.10 preferred C shares as a result of a performance clause in the Company’s Articles.
The bonus issue was debited to the share premium account.
Immediately prior to Admission, on 17 August 2018, the Company issued bonus share capital of 91,718,231 £0.10 ordinary H shares to its
shareholders and on the same date re-designated each class of share in issue at that same date as Ordinary shares such that the Company
has only one class of shares prior to the IPO. This resulted in a total share capital of 94,285,800 £0.10 Ordinary shares prior to Admission.
The bonus shares at IPO were debited to the share premium account.
On 17 August 2018, the Company was admitted to AIM with a placing of 34,285,714 new £0.10 Ordinary Shares at £1.75 per share fully paid up
for a total consideration of £60 million. £56.6 million has been credited to the share premium account with expenses of £2.9 million offset
against this account.

20 Other reserves
Group

Share
option reserve
£’000

Translation
reserve
£’000

Capital
redemption
reserve
£’000

Total other
reserves
£’000

At 1 May 2017

—

(2)

(71,491)

(71,493)

Issue of shares

—

—

1,643

1,643

At 30 April 2018

—

(2)

(69,848)

(69,850)
772

772

—

—

Translation of foreign operations

Share-based payments

—

(21)

—

(21)

Issue of shares

—

—

(17,831)

(17,831)

772

(23)

(87,679)

(86,930)

At 30 April 2019

Share
option reserve
£’000

Total other
reserves
£’000

—

—

Share-based payments

772

772

At 30 April 2019

772

772

Company

At 20 June 2018
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21 Notes to the cash flow statement
Group reconciliation of loss before income tax to cash used in operations
Loss before income tax
Adjustments for:

2019
£’000

(18,987)

(7,253)

233

—

3,106

953

Finance costs
Finance income
Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

(256)

Deprecation of right of use assets
Share-based payments

Cash used in operations

78

21

—

772

Increase in trade and other receivables

—

163

91

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Increase in trade and other payables

2018
£’000

(434)

—
—
(350)

2,168

1,200

(13,123)

(5,372)

Adjusted cash used in operations is £9,779,000 (2018: £5,372,000), being cash used in operations less exceptional items including IPO costs.

22 Share-based payments
Share options

Share options are granted to Directors, employees and certain contractors. The exercise price of the granted options is equal to the market
price of the shares on the date of the grant. Options are conditional on the employee completing three years’ service (the vesting period). The
options are exercisable starting three years from the grant date, subject to the Group achieving its target share price growth over the defined
periods of 10% above the growth of the FTSE All-Share Pharmaceutical and Biotechnology Index, and the options have a contractual option
term of five years. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash. The contractual life of all
options is ten years.
The Group runs a Company share option plan for both employees and contractors.
Movements in the number of share options outstanding, and their related weighted average exercise prices, are as follows:
2019
Average
exercise
price in £ per
share option

At 1 May
Granted
Forfeited
Exercised
At 30 April
Out of the 9,000,000 outstanding options none were exercisable.
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’000

—

1.75

9,772

—

—

(1.72)
1.75

(772)

9,000
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22 Share-based payments continued
Share options continued

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry date and exercise prices:
Exercise price

Share options
’000
2019

August 28

£1.75

August 28

£2.01

7,354

September 2018

September 28

£2.07

November 2018

November 28

£1.88

November 2018

November 28

£1.70

December 2018

December 28

£1.70

January 29

£1.59

January 2019

January 29

£1.58

February 2019

February 29

£1.78

February 2019

February 29

£1.75

February 2019

February 29

£1.72

February 2019

February 29

£1.80

March 2019

March 29

£1.87

March 2019

March 29

£1.77

April 2019

April 29

£1.77

April 2019

April 29

£1.78

Grant month

Expiry month

August 2018
August 2018

January 2019

Total

26

103

77

64

39

231

244

334
116
77

116

39

26

90
64

9,000

The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the year was 9.4 years.
There were no options exercised in the year.

Valuation models

The fair value of share options granted during the year was determined using the Monte Carlo simulation model.

Monte Carlo simulation

The following weighted average assumptions were used in the Monte Carlo simulation model in calculating the fair values of the options granted
during the year:
2019

Exercise price
Share price
Expected volatility
Expected life
Expected dividends
Risk-free interest rate

£1.75

£1.85

34.0%

5 years
nil

0.9%

The Monte Carlo simulation model has been used to value the awards which have a market performance vesting condition, performance
against the FTSE All-Share Pharmaceutical and Biotechnology Index. The model incorporates a discount factor reflecting this performance
condition into the fair value of this portion of the award.
The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year determined using the Monte Carlo simulation model at the grant date was
£0.48 per option.
For the options valued using the Monte Carlo simulation, expected volatility is measured by calculating the standard deviation of the natural
logarithm of share price movements of comparable companies. This is a standard approach to calculating volatility. The risk-free rate of return
is the rate of interest obtainable from government securities as at the date of grant (i.e. gilts in the UK) over the expected term (i.e. three years).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 30 April 2019

22 Share-based payments continued
Income statement

The charge in respect of share-based payment transactions included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year is
as follows:
Group

Company

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2019
£’000

772

—

166

772

—

166

Expense arising from share option plans

23 Related parties

Transactions with related parties during the year and balances with related parties at 30 April are as follows:
Related party

Drayson Technologies (Europe) Limited

2019
Purchases
£’000

2018
Purchases
£’000

2019
Payables
£’000

2018
Payables
£’000

1,196

—

461

—

1,196

—

461

—

Drayson Technologies (Europe) Limited was demerged from the Group during the year as set out in Note 13 and is a related party by virtue of
common control.
The remuneration of Directors, including the related party bonus awards made during the year, are disclosed on page 43 in the Annual Report
on Remuneration.

24 Financial commitments and contingent liabilities

The Group has entered into a commitment to pay a share of revenue from future sales of licensed digital health products. The minimum royalty
fee commitments for these agreements are disclosed as licence royalties in the table below:
Licence royalties
2019
£’000

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

190

2018
£’000

110

195

123

—

—

385

233

The Group also has a short-term licence on an office building which is not included in the recognised lease liability; this is shown below, along
with the comparative land and buildings commitment.
The total future minimum payments under non-cancellable operating leases of the following periods is as follows:
Land and buildings

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

29

387

—

—

29

387

—

—

The Company has a financial commitment to issue £2.5 million in Ordinary Share capital at £1.75 per share each to George Eliot Hospital NHS
Trust and Wye Valley NHS Trust as a result of the Strategic Research Agreements signed on 27 January 2018. The total Ordinary share capital
to issue once all obligations are met is £5 million.
There are no capital commitments as at 30 April 2019 or 30 April 2018.
There are no contingent liabilities as at 30 April 2019 or 30 April 2018.
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25 Subsequent events

On 17 May 2019 the Group entered into a supply of services agreement with Oxford Computer Consultants Limited (“OCC”). The contract
concerns the build of the Big Data Institute OUH Clinical Data Warehouse and fees for the services are capped at £384,000.
The Group entered into a joint arrangement on 24 June 2019 with Evotec SE, a global drug discovery and development company, the
University of Oxford, Oxford University Innovation Ltd and Oxford Sciences Innovation plc aimed at accelerating the translation of research
in the fields of Clinical AI and digital health at Oxford into breakthrough digital therapeutics and Clinical AI algorithms and to accelerate data-driven
drug discovery and LAB10x development. As part of this agreement, the Group has committed a total of £1,670,000 to the new fund over three years
(paid as three annual instalments of £556,000).
On 31 July 2019, the Group entered into a contract and collaboration with Bayer AG that aims to accelerate the development of new treatments
for cardiovascular disease using Clinical AI. The initial agreement will generate revenues for Sensyne Health of £5 million across the two-year
collaboration. Sensyne Health’s partner NHS trusts will receive a 4% share of all revenues generated under this collaboration.
On 4 October 2019 the Board appointed Dr Annalisa Jenkins MBBS FRCP, Independent Non-Executive Director, as Acting Non-Executive
Chair of the Board whilst the Chairman, Charles Swingland, recovers from a recent period of ill health which may take a number of weeks.

26 Ultimate controlling party

There is no ultimate controlling party of the Group.
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Glossary

“AI” or “artificial intelligence” – a field within computer science aimed at training machines to emulate human intelligence, make rational
decisions or take optimal actions. It supports accurate decision making that has the potential to augment or surpass human domain expertise.
“Anonymised patient data” – data which was previously identifiable and has undergone anonymisation. Anonymisation is a process which
reduces the likelihood that the data can identify an individual.
“Clinical AI” – machine learning algorithms, including deep learning, for which the learning process is driven by in-depth clinical knowledge
to derive clinically-useful results (e.g. improve patient outcomes and/or discover new insights that can improve the drug discovery and
development process, such as patient stratification).
“Clinical pathway” – the full process of steps taken in treating a patient, including initial assessment, referral, consenting, testing, receiving
a diagnostic result, and the clinical consequences.
“Clusters” – groupings of data, separated by a distance that can be measured by a distance metric, where the latter represents similarity.
Cluster analysis enables segmentation of patient cohorts and stratification of sub-groups and is of particular interest in precision medicine.
Advanced clustering techniques work not just on data points but can cluster entire time-series of data; e.g. they can be used to determine
the similarity between a patient’s time-series of blood pressure data on two different days.
“Data Security & Protection Toolkit” – the online self-assessment tool that enables organisations to measure and publish their performance
against the National Data Guardian’s 10 data security standards, which is required to be used by all organisations that have access to NHS
patient data and systems.
“Digital therapeutics” – software products used in the treatment of medical conditions. They are applications designed to enable patients
to take greater control of their care.
“EN ISO 13485:2016” – specifies requirements for a quality management system where an organisation needs to demonstrate its ability to
provide medical devices and related services that consistently meet customer requirements and regulatory requirements applicable to medical
devices and related services.
“EU GDPR 2016/679” – the EU regulation law on data protection and privacy for all individuals within the European Union and the European
Economic Area. It also addresses the export of personal data outside the European Union and EEA areas.
“Genome” – the entire DNA sequence, found in almost every cell in the human body.
“Genome sequencing” – a technique that is used to ‘read’ DNA. It finds the order of the letters of DNA (A, T, C and G), one by one.
Sequencing a human genome means finding the sequence of someone’s unique 3 billion letters of DNA.
“Genotype” - the set of genes within an organism; this may refer to all of the genes an organism possesses but is more commonly used
to refer to a subset of genes. Genotypes determine phenotypes (a set of observable characteristics).
“IP” or “Intellectual Property” – inventions, literary and artistic works, and symbols, names and images used in commerce. IP includes
patents for inventions, trademarks, software, industrial designs and geographical indications.
“ISO 27001:2013” – specifies requirements for establishing, implementing, maintaining and continually improving an information security
management system within the context of the organisation. It also includes requirements for the assessment and treatment of information
security risks tailored to the needs of the organisation.
“NICE” – the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence.
“Phenotypes” – the set of observable characteristics of an individual resulting from the interaction of its genotype with the environment.
Examples of phenotypes include: eye colour, hair colour, physiological characteristics and certain behaviours.
“Real-world evidence” – the clinical evidence regarding usage and potential benefits or risks of a medical or other product derived from
Real-World Data (RWD).
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“Real-world patient data” – the data relating to patient health status and/or the delivery of health care routinely collected from a variety
of sources. Real-world patient data can come from a number of sources, for example:
• Electronic Health Records (EHRs)
• Patient generated data including in-home use settings
• Data gathered from other sources that can inform on health status, such as mobile devices
• Product and disease registries
• Claims and billing activities.
“Software Products” – software applications licensed to or developed by Sensyne Health that are used by patients and their care providers
to give the patient greater control over their condition; support earlier, more clinically and cost effective interventions; and generate anonymised
data that can be analysed to support the creation of AI-based tools that can be deployed to further improve care.
“Strategic Research Agreements” – Sensyne Health agreements with NHS Trusts for the provision of ethically-sourced anonymised patient
data for analysis by Sensyne Health to help improve patient care, accelerate the discovery and development of new medicines and improve the
understanding of disease and treatment.
“Therapeutics” – the branch of medicine concerned with the treatment of disease OR a medicine or therapy that cures disease or relieves pain.
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Advisers and Company information

Registered office
Sensyne Health plc
Schrödinger Building
Heatley Road
Oxford Science Park
Oxford
OX4 4GE

+44 (0) 330 058 1845
General enquiries: info@sensynehealth.com
Investors: info@sensynehealth.com
Website: www.sensynehealth.com

Nominated adviser and broker
Peel Hunt LLP
Moor House
120 London Wall
London
EC2Y 5ET

Independent auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory
Auditors
1 Embankment Place
London
WC2N 6RH
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Registrar
Equiniti Limited
Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing
West Sussex
BN99 6DA

Legal advisers to the Company
Allen & Overy LLP
One Bishops Square
London
E1 6AD

Covington & Burling LLP
265 Strand
London
WC2R 1BH

Bankers
Lloyds Bank plc

Berkeley Square House
14 Berkeley Square
London
W1J 6AF

Public relations
Consilium Strategic
Communications
41 Lothbury
London
EC2R 7HG

Company Secretary
Prism Cosec Ltd

Elder House
St George’s Business Park
207 Brooklands Road
Weybridge
Surrey
KT13 0TS
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which has been printed on Arcoprint, an FSC® certified material. This document was printed
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